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UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO 
REPORT SUMMARY 

Years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 
 

Purposes and Scope of Audit 

Authority, Purpose and Scope 

The Office of the State Auditor, State of Colorado, engaged Clifton Gunderson LLP (Clifton 
Gunderson) to conduct a financial and compliance audit of the University of Colorado 
(the University) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. Clifton Gunderson conducted the audit 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of 
America. We conducted the related fieldwork from May 2010 to November 12, 2010. 
 
The purpose and scope of our audit were to: 
 

• Express an opinion on the basic financial statements of the University as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2010. Our independent auditor’s report refers to a report on 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance as required by auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and Government 
Auditing Standards. 

• Evaluate compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grants governing the 
expenditure of federal and state funds. 

• Express an opinion on the statement of appropriations, expenditures, transfers, and 
reversions of the state-funded student financial assistance programs of the University 
for the year ended June 30, 2010. 

• Evaluate progress in implementing the prior audit finding and recommendation. 
 

The University’s schedule of expenditures of federal awards and applicable opinions thereon by 
the Office of the State Auditor, State of Colorado, are included in the June 30, 2010 Statewide 
Single Audit Report issued under separate cover. 
 
Audit Opinions and Reports 
 
We expressed unqualified opinions on the University’s basic financial statements and on the 
statement of appropriations, expenditures, transfers, and reversions of the state-funded student 
financial assistance programs for the year ended June 30, 2010. 
 
There were three audit adjustments that were proposed and not made to the basic financial 
statements: 
 

• An adjustment that would have increased capital assets by approximately $3.2 million, 
increased operating expenses by approximately $2.0 million, and increased liabilities 
by approximately $5.1 million.  These amounts were determined based on a projected 
error found during testing. 
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UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO 
REPORT SUMMARY 

Years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 
 

• An adjustment that would have decreased operating revenue by approximately $3.4 
million and increased beginning net assets by approximately $3.4 million. These 
amounts were determined based on a projected error found during testing. 

• An adjustment that would have decreased operating revenue and operating expenses 
by approximately $3.0 million. 

 
These adjustments were not made by the University as management determined these 
amounts were not quantitatively or qualitatively material to the financial statements. 
 
We issued a report on the University’s compliance and internal control over financial reporting 
based on an audit of the basic financial statements performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards. A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a 
control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis.  A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  

We noted no matters involving the internal control over financial reporting and its operation that 
we consider to be material weaknesses. We noted one item in which the University could 
improve its internal control or compliance procedures or achieve other operating efficiencies, 
which is described in the finding and recommendation section of this report. This is a deficiency 
in internal control.   
 
Summary of Findings 
 
Information Technology General Controls – UNIX Admi nistrator Account 

 
During our audit of the University, we tested the operating effectiveness of the University’s 
information technology systems critical to its operations and financial reporting.  We found that 
the authorized UNIX administrators did not have their own separately assigned accounts on the 
servers.  Specifically, the University has all the UNIX administrators use the same administrator 
account to access the UNIX operating system.  By allowing the administrators to use the same 
administrator account to access the UNIX operating system, this increases the risk of misuse of 
the account privileges and the system is unable to identify which administrator logged in and 
used the administrator account.  In addition, we noted that the UNIX operating system has a log 
file that captures a record of all attempts by users to execute commands; this log file is currently 
not being reviewed by the University. 
 
Recommendation and the University’s Response 
 
A summary of the recommendation for the above finding is included in the Recommendation 
Locator on page 4. The Recommendation Locator also shows the University’s response to the 
audit recommendation. A discussion of the audit comment and recommendation is contained in 
the finding and recommendation section of our report. 
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Years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 
 
 
The University’s response to the finding is described in the finding and recommendation section 
of this report. This response has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the financial statements, and accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
Summary of Progress in Implementing Prior Year Audi t Recommendation 
 
The audit report for the year ended June 30, 2009 included one recommendation. This 
recommendation was implemented as of November 12, 2010.   
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    Agency   University   Implementation 
Rec. no.  Page no.   Recommendation Summary   Addressed   Response   Date  
 

    1 7 Strengthen information technology controls by    University of  Agree  June 2011 
  prohibiting the administrators from logging        Colorado 
  directly into the UNIX administrator account  
  and generating and reviewing the log file on  
  a periodic basis.  
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Organization and Administration 

The University of Colorado (the University) was established on November 7, 1861 by Act of the 
Territorial Government. Upon the admission of Colorado into the Union in 1876, the University 
was declared an institution of the State of Colorado (the State) and the Board of Regents was 
established under the State Constitution as its governing authority. 

 
The University consists of the system office and the following three campuses: 

• University of Colorado at Boulder (CU – Boulder) 
• University of Colorado of Denver (UC Denver) 
• University of Colorado at Colorado Springs (UCCS) 
 

The three campuses comprise 28 schools and colleges, which offer more than 132 fields of 
study at the undergraduate level and 189 fields at the graduate level, with 264 bachelor and 
master’s degrees, along with 96 doctorates offered.   
 
The Board of Regents is charged constitutionally with the general supervision of the University 
and the exclusive control and direction of all funds of and appropriations to the University, 
unless otherwise provided by law. The Board of Regents consists of nine members serving 
staggered six-year terms, one elected from each of the State’s seven congressional districts 
and two elected from the State at large. 
 
The Board of Regents appoints the President of the University. The President is the chief 
executive officer of the University. The President is responsible for the administration of the 
University and for compliance of all University matters with applicable regent laws and policies 
and state and federal constitutions, laws, and regulations. The President is the chief academic 
officer of the University, responsible for providing academic leadership for the University in 
meeting the needs of the State, and shall maintain and advance the academic policies of the 
University. The President is also the chief spokesperson for the University and interpreter of 
University policy and represents and interprets the roles, goals, and needs of the University 
throughout the State and elsewhere, as appropriate. The Chancellors are the chief academic 
and administrative officers at the campus level, responsible to the President for the conduct of 
the affairs of their respective campuses in accordance with the policies of the Board of Regents. 
 
Enrollment, tuition, and faculty and staff information is presented below. The information was 
obtained from the Budget Data Book for the respective fiscal years, prepared by the University 
for the Colorado Department on Higher Education (CDHE). 
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 Full-Time equivalent (FTE) Student Enrollment  
   Undergraduate   Graduate  
Fiscal years    Resident  Nonresident   Resident   Nonresident   Total  

 2009 – 2010  29,736  9,359  7,563  1,853  48,511 
 2008 – 2009  28,464  9,338  7,228  1,696  46,726 
 2007 – 2008  28,082  8,466  7,102  1,497  45,147 
 

 

 FTE Faculty and Staff  
  Instructional  Other Faculty   
Fiscal years   Faculty   and Staff   Total  
 
2009 – 2010  4,562  8,748  13,310 
2008 – 2009  4,514  8,352  12,866 
2007 – 2008  4,241  9,814  13,425 
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We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and aggregate 
discretely presented component units of the University of Colorado (the University), a 
component unit of the State of Colorado, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2010, and have 
issued our report thereon dated November 12, 2010,  In planning and performing our audit, we 
considered the University’s internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our 
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal 
control over financial reporting.  In addition, in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, we also have issued our report dated 
November 12, 2010 on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grants.  We have not considered internal control since the date of that report.  
We did not audit the financial statements of the University of Colorado Foundation 
(CU Foundation) or the University of Colorado Real Estate Foundation (CUREF), discretely 
presented component units. In addition, we did not audit the financial statements of the 
University Physicians, Inc. (UPI) and University License Equity Holding, Inc. (ULEHI), blended 
component units. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors and, other than 
ULEHI, were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 
 
The maintenance of adequate internal control designed to fulfill control objectives is the 
responsibility of management. Because of inherent limitations in internal control, errors or fraud 
may nevertheless occur and not be detected. Also, controls found to be functioning at a point in 
time may later be found deficient because of the performance of those responsible for applying 
them and there can be no assurance that controls currently in existence will prove to be 
adequate in the future as changes take place in the organization. 
 
A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies in internal control, that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of significant deficiencies in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described above and would not 
necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or 
material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to 
be material weaknesses, as described above. 
 
Although not considered to be a significant deficiency or a material weakness, we noted the 
following control deficiency during our audit that we would like to bring to management’s 
attention: 
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Information Technology General Controls – UNIX Admi nistrator Account  

Information technology controls ensure the continued proper operation of network systems and 
applications running on the systems. Such controls include access security controls over 
operating systems.   

The UNIX Administrator account has access to all commands and files on the UNIX operating 
system. The UNIX operating system is the platform on the servers that hosts the application and 
data for the PeopleSoft application, the software used for financial reporting.  The Administrator 
account provides the ability to modify the system and to grant and revoke access permissions 
for other users, including other Administrator accounts.   

What was the purpose of the audit work? 

The purpose of the audit work was to test the operating effectiveness of general information 
technology (IT) controls.   

What audit work was performed and how were results measured? 

The audit work included testing the operating control effectiveness of the University’s 
information technology systems critical to its operations and financial reporting.  Logistical 
access, physical access, program change management and other controls were included in this 
testing.  The results of the testing were based upon using industry best practices to address the 
risks that face the University’s financial information systems.   

What problem did the audit work identify? 

During our testing, the University provided a listing of authorized UNIX administrators. The 
listing of administrators was appropriate based on job responsibilities of the users; however, the 
administrators did not have their own separately assigned accounts on the servers. The 
University has all the UNIX administrators use the same Administrator account to access the 
UNIX operating system.  

In addition, the UNIX operating system has a log file that captures a record of all attempts by 
users to execute commands. This log file is currently not being reviewed by the University.  

Why does this problem matter? 

Allowing the administrators to use the same Administrator account to access the UNIX 
operating system increases the risk of misuse of the account privileges because the system is 
unable to identify which administrator logged in and used the Administrator account.  In addition, 
by not reviewing the log file, the University risks undetected and unauthorized access to the 
system.   

Why did the problem occur?  

Per the University, due to the reduction of IT personnel with UNIX administrative responsibilities 
along with the reassignment of the UNIX administrative functions to new administrators, the 
sharing of the administrative account was the most cost effective way to provide new 
administrators access to perform new job responsibilities.  In addition, because the UNIX 
Administrators use the same Administrator account, the log file had no data to review. 
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Classification of Finding:  Deficiency 
 
Recommendation No. 1: 

The University should strengthen its information technology controls by: 

a) Prohibiting the administrators from logging directly into the UNIX Administrator account 
by creating separate user accounts on the servers for all of the administrators. 

b) Generating and reviewing the log file on a periodic basis to determine that only valid 
users are obtaining administrative privileges and the timing and activities appear to be 
appropriate. 

 
University of Colorado Response 

Management concurs.  University Information Systems (UIS) is in the process of implementing a 
new system platform for the UNIX environment.  When the new system is fully installed, 
separate administrator user accounts will exist and a system utility called Winbind will be in 
place to prevent the sharing of the root account by different users.  Rather, users needing root 
access will have to SU, or “switch user,” to log into the root account to gain administrative 
privileges.  This feature will show individual users logging in to assume the root account, 
thereby maintaining user accountability.  The new system is currently in development and is 
expected to be in production by the spring of 2011. 
 
Implementation date: June 2011 
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Following is the audit recommendation for the year ended June 30, 2009 and its disposition as 
of November 12, 2010.  
 

Recommendation   Disposition  
   
Recommendation No. 1 – The University 
should implement review procedures at UC 
Denver over the Return of Title IV 
calculations.  The review, which can be 
performed on a sample basis, should be 
performed by someone other than the 
preparer of the calculation, be evidenced by 
the reviewer’s signature and date the review 
was performed, and consider the inputs and 
the mathematical accuracy of the calculations. 

 Implemented 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
Members of the Legislative Audit Committee: 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and 
aggregate discretely presented component units of the University of Colorado (the University), a 
component unit of the State of Colorado, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2010, which 
collectively comprise the University’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the University’s management. Our responsibility 
is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the 2010 
financial statements of University Physicians, Inc. (UPI) and University License Equity Holding, Inc. 
(ULEHI), blended component units, which represent approximately 6%, 8%, and 15% of the assets, 
net assets, and revenues of the business-type activities of the University. In addition, we did not 
audit the 2010 financial statements of the University of Colorado Foundation (CU Foundation) and 
the University of Colorado Real Estate Foundation (CUREF), which represent approximately 100% 
of the assets, net assets, and revenues of the aggregate discretely presented component units. 
Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been 
furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as they relate to the amounts included for UPI, ULEHI, CU 
Foundation, and CUREF, are based on the reports of the other auditors.  The financial statements 
of the University as of and for the year ended June 30, 2009, were audited by other auditors whose 
report dated November 9, 2009, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. The financial statements of the CU 
Foundation and CUREF, discretely presented component units, and UPI, a blended component 
unit, were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
We believe that our audit and the reports of the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinions. 
 
In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements 
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the 
business-type activities and the aggregate discretely presented component units of the University of 
Colorado as of June 30, 2010, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows, 
where applicable, thereof for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
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In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated 
November 12, 2010 on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the 
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of 
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with this report in 
considering the results of our audit. 
 
The management’s discussion and analysis on pages 13 through 21 and the Funding Status of 
Postemployment Benefits on page 62 are not a required part of the basic financial statements 
but are supplementary information required by accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted 
principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation 
of the required supplementary information.  However, we did not audit the information and 
express no opinion on it. 
 

a1 
 
Greenwood Village, Colorado 
November 12, 2010 



We are pleased to present this financial discussion and analysis of

the University of Colorado (the University). It is intended to make

the University’s financial statements easier to understand and com-

municate our financial situation in an open and accountable man-

ner. It provides an analysis of the University’s position and results

of operations as of and for the years ended June 30, 2010 and

2009 (Fiscal Year 2010 and 2009, respectively), with comparative

information for Fiscal Year 2008. University management is

responsible for the completeness and fairness of this discussion and

analysis and the financial statements.

UNDERSTANDING THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

Statements of Net Assets present the assets, liabilities, and net

assets of the University at a point in time (June 30, 2010 and

2009). Their purpose is to present a financial snapshot of the

University. They aid readers in determining the assets available to

continue the University’s operations; how much the University

owes to employees, vendors, and investors; and a picture of net

assets and their availability for expenditure by the University.

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net

Assets present the total revenues and expenses of the University

for operating, nonoperating, and other related activities during the

fiscal years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009. Their purpose is to

assess the University’s operating and nonoperating operations.

Statements of Cash Flows present cash receipts and payments

of the University during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2010 and

2009. Their purpose is to assess the University’s ability to generate

net cash flows and meet its obligations as they come due.

Notes to the Financial Statements present additional infor-

mation to support the financial statements and are commonly

referred to as “Notes.” Their purpose is to clarify and expand on

the information in the financial statements. Notes are referenced in

this discussion to indicate where details of the financial highlights

may be found.

Required Supplementary Information (RSI) presents addi-

tional information that differs from the basic financial statements

in that the auditor applies certain limited procedures in reviewing

the information. In this report, RSI includes the funding status of

other postemployment benefits and this management’s discussion

and analysis.

We suggest that you combine this financial analysis and discussion

with relevant nonfinancial indicators to assess the overall state of

the University. Examples of nonfinancial indicators include trend

and quality of applicants, freshman class size, student retention,

building condition, and campus safety. Information about non-

financial indicators is not included in this analysis but may be

obtained from the University’s Office of Institutional Research (see

www.cu.edu/ir).

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Increases in net assets during a period of declining budgets are one

indicator of concerted planning on the part of University manage-

ment to address anticipated future funding reductions. For two of

the past three fiscal years, the University has managed to increase

its net assets. For the year ended June 30, 2010, the University’s

net assets increased by approximately $254,989,000. For the year

ended June 30, 2009, the University’s net assets decreased by

$2,084,000 and for the year ended June 30, 2008, the University’s

net assets increased by approximately $92,264,000.

For Fiscal Year 2010, the increase in net assets is primarily attribut-

able to investment income of $103,486,000, compared to an

investment loss of $95,754,000 in Fiscal Year 2009. In Fiscal Year

2010, included in investment income are unrealized gains of

$68,106,000. Unrealized gains, by their nature, do not result in

spendable funds for the University. State funding decreases of

$51,802,000 in fee-for-service contracts ($50,138,000 in Fiscal

Year 2010 versus $101,940,000 in Fiscal Year 2009) and a decrease

in stipends received ($38,073,000 in Fiscal Year 2010 versus

$57,164,000 in Fiscal Year 2009) eroded the University’s level of

state support (these cuts were backfilled with federal stimulus funds

as discussed below). Stipends represent the amount the state pays

for each credit hour a resident undergraduate student is enrolled.

The Colorado Department of Higher Education purchases gradu-

ate and specialized education services, such as law and medicine

from public higher education institutions via fee-for-service con-

tracts. The decrease in stipends received occurred despite an

increase in enrollment. The stipend amount per credit hour has

decreased from $92 per credit hour to $68 per credit hour to $44

per credit hour in Fiscal Year 2010. This decrease in state funding

in both stipends and fee-for-service between Fiscal Year 2010 and

Fiscal Year 2009 was backfilled with stimulus funds of

$120,888,000 from the federal government (the American

Recovery and Reinvestment Act, “ARRA”) and are included in

nonoperating revenues. Federal stimulus funding for the state is

scheduled to expire in October 2011.

The University sustained an operating loss of $131,875,000 in

Fiscal Year 2010 due in part to the issues noted above and the

classification of Federal Pell Grant revenue in the amount of

$40,139,000 from operating revenue to nonoperating revenue as

a result of additional guidance provided by the Governmental

Accounting Standards Board (GASB). A similar reclassification, in

the amount of $24,131,000, was made to the Fiscal Year 2009

financial statements.

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

June 30, 2010 and 2009 (unaudited)

13



14

For Fiscal Year 2009, the decrease in net assets is primarily attribut-

able to unrealized losses on investments totaling $114,874,000 as

offset by state appropriations, gifts, and other capital related addi-

tions of $112,464,000. The University sustained operating losses

for Fiscal Year 2009 of $119,331,000. The increase in operating

loss from Fiscal Year 2008 to Fiscal Year 2009 is partially attributed

to a decrease in state funding from the College Opportunity Fund

(COF) in the form of reduced student stipends and fee-for-service

contracts. This decrease was offset by ARRA funds of $49,995,000.

As noted above, this funding is reported as nonoperating revenues

and is scheduled to expire in October 2011. Additionally, Federal

Pell Grant revenue of $24,131,000 was reclassified to nonoperat-

ing.

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

Figure 1 illustrates the University’s summary of net assets and

demonstrates that the University has positioned itself for the

current economic downturn and related anticipated budget reduc-

tions through its fiscal decisions over the past three fiscal years.

The mix of assets, liabilities, and net assets has remained consistent.

The change in net capital asset composition is related to ongoing

capital-related activity. Analysis of the University’s capital assets

and related debt is included in the section Capital Asset and Debt

Management, whereas this section provides analysis of the

University’s non-capital assets and other liabilities.

In analyzing the University’s assets, approximately 82 percent and

80 percent of the University’s non-capital assets are investments,

with a balance of $1,451,669,000 and $1,272,400,000 at June 30,

2010 and 2009, respectively. The University maximizes earnings

through an internal pooling program and targeted rates of returns.

The University has leveraged the investment portfolio and earning

power while ensuring security and liquidity requirements are also

met. Funds invested in the University’s investment pool increased

approximately $101,000,000 from June 30, 2009 to June 30,

2010. Also, in Fiscal Year 2010, the University recovered a portion

of the losses incurred in Fiscal Year 2009 on the equities in the

investment pool of approximately $26 million. For the fixed

income portion of the portfolio, interest and capital gains added

about $40 million to the recovery/increase. Nineteen million

dollars of this was directly related to market changes. At the end

of Fiscal Year 2009, the University had $80 million of unspent

construction funds invested. At the end of Fiscal Year 2010, that

number was approximately $180 million.

The increase in accounts and loans receivable from Fiscal Year 2010

versus Fiscal Year 2009 of $24,433,000 is driven by the increase in

amounts receivable from the federal government of $14,222,000.

This increase is due in part to the additional research funding

received from the federal government under the ARRA program.

There was no similar increase in Fiscal Year 2009. It is also due in

part to increases in nongovernmental research funding which

resulted in receivables from these parties to increase by $5,073,000.

The University’s non-debt-related liabilities are $566,112,000 and

$607,106,000 at June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These lia-

bilities are comprised of amounts categorized in Figure 2.

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO
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Figure 1. Summary of Assets, Liabilities, and Net Assets as of June 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008
(all dollars in thousands)

2010 2009 2008

Assets

Current assets $ 522,133 580,630 500,025

Noncurrent, noncapital assets 1,249,412 1,001,864 996,374

Net capital assets 2,331,983 2,121,616 2,007,618

Total Assets 4,103,528 3,704,110 3,504,017

Liabilities

Current liabilities 452,790 502,642 464,310

Noncurrent liabilities 1,266,075 1,071,794 907,949

Total Liabilities 1,718,865 1,574,436 1,372,259

Net Assets

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 1,351,486 1,248,656 1,200,357

Restricted for nonexpendable purposes 46,127 41,968 52,831

Restricted for expendable purposes 303,706 284,012 309,220

Unrestricted 683,344 555,038 569,350

Total Net Assets 2,384,663 2,129,674 2,131,758

Total Net Assets and Liabilities $ 4,103,528 3,704,110 3,504,017
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Figure 2. Composition of Other Liabilities (non-debt-related) as of June 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008
(all dollars in thousands)

2010 2009 2008

Accounts payable $ 69,997 70,794 66,800

Accrued salaries and benefits 166,246 157,746 143,721

Compensated absences and postemployment benefits 156,635 136,503 115,274

Deferred revenue 121,526 105,390 95,222

Contract retainage 9,822 3,939 16,707

Risk financing related 17,471 18,332 19,512

Securities lending – 88,456 69,101

Miscellaneous liabilities 24,415 25,946 33,668

Total Other Liabilities $ 566,112 607,106 560,005

The three largest categories of non-debt-related liabilities are

accrued salaries and benefits, compensated absences and postem-

ployment benefits, and deferred revenue. For accrued salaries and

benefits, and deferred revenue, the increase in Fiscal Years 2010

and 2009 is due primarily to federal stimulus dollars for research.

Accrued salaries and benefits represent amounts earned by

University employees, primarily for June payroll, but not paid as of

fiscal year end.

Compensated absences and postemployment benefits estimate the

amount payable to employees in the future for their vested rights

under the University’s various leave and retirement programs. This

estimate is based on personnel policies that define the amount of

vacation, sick leave, and postemployment benefits to which each

employee may be entitled (Note 1). This liability increased by

$20,132,000 and $21,229,000, for Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009,

respectively, primarily due to increases in postemployment benefits

other than pension benefits (OPEB). In accordance with GASB

Statement No. 45, “Accounting and Financial Reporting by

Employees for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions,”

beginning with Fiscal Year 2008, the University is required to

account and report on OPEB (Note 7). Such benefits include

health insurance benefits for University retirees and their depen-

dents. The accounting standard requires a liability to be recorded

for the cumulative difference between the annual OPEB cost and

the employer’s contribution to fund the obligation. The University

has chosen to fund this liability on a pay-as-you-go basis rather

than fund the annual OPEB cost. The unfunded actuarial liability,

as determined by the University’s actuary, as of June 30, 2010, is

$196,715,000. The unfunded actuarial liability represents the

excess of the actuarial accrued liability (the obligation for benefits

earned) over the actuarial value of assets. As noted earlier, the

University has elected not to fund this liability, therefore there are

no assets held in trust to pay future benefits which have been

earned by employees. In accordance with Generally Accepted

Accounting Principles (GAAP) the unfunded actuarial liability

amount is not reflected in the financial statements and is therefore

not included in Figure 2. Although accounting standards do not

prescribe the inclusion of the unfunded actuarial liability in the

financial statements, the existence and amount of this balance

should be considered in determining future resource demands on

the University.

Deferred revenue represents amounts paid by students, auxiliary

enterprise customers, grantors, and contractors and the University

has not met all of its requirements for revenue recognition (Note

8). These amounts will be recognized as revenue in future periods

after all conditions have been satisfied. The increase in deferred

revenue between Fiscal Year 2010 and Fiscal Year 2009 of

$16,136,000 is primarily attributable to increased research funding.

In addition to these three categories, at June 30, 2010 and 2009,

the University recorded a securities lending liability of $0 and

$88,456,000, respectively (Note 3). The University’s general prac-

tice is to settle security lending agreements by fiscal year end.

However, due to the market conditions that existed at the end of

Fiscal Year 2009, University management determined it was in the

best interest of the University to hold those security contracts. The

securities lending agreements were settled at June 30, 2010.

The University’s net assets may have restrictions imposed by exter-

nal parties, such as donors, or by their nature are invested in capital

assets (property, plant, and equipment). To help understand these

restrictions, the University’s net assets are shown in four categories,

as displayed in Figure 1.

A portion of net assets are restricted for either expendable or nonex-

pendable purposes and then more specifically by programmatic

restrictions. The programmatic category of the restriction is shown

on the statement of net assets. A nonexpendable restriction requires

the original principal to be set aside for perpetual investment (as an

endowment). The majority of the endowment assets benefiting the

University are held by the University of Colorado Foundation,

which is a discretely presented component unit (Note 17) and not

included in the above amounts. An expendable restriction allows

the University to spend the full amount, but only for the purposes

identified by the entity providing the money. Unrestricted net

assets, as defined by GAAP, are available for spending for any lawful

purpose under the full discretion of management. However, the

University has placed internal limitations on future use by designat-

ing unrestricted net assets for certain purposes in keeping with

management’s plans to conserve resources in the current budgetary

environment (Note 11).



June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The ability of the Regents to

increase tuition rates is limited by the State, although the

University’s operations no longer impact the State’s TABOR spend-

ing limits due to the University’s enterprise status.

As illustrated in Figure 4, the University experienced increases in

all operating revenue sources in Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009 except

fee-for-service contracts and other operating revenues. The increase

in tuition and fees revenues reflects a combination of rate increases

and increased enrollment. The COF provides stipends to qualified

undergraduate students; the receiving students then use the

stipends to pay a portion of their tuition. In Fiscal Years 2010 and

2009, the University applied $38,073,000 and $57,164,000,

respectively, of COF stipends against student tuition bills (these

amounts are included in tuition revenues). Consistent with the

University’s goal to increase its focus and national role as a com-

prehensive research institution, the University’s largest source of

revenue continues to be grants and contracts revenue, which

includes federal, state, and local government, and private sources.

Grants and contracts revenue from the federal government repre-

sents 81 percent and 80 percent of total grants and contract rev-

enues for Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009, respectively. These funds can

only be used for the purpose given and have increased in both

Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009 as a result of research awards received

under the ARRA program and general overall growth in research

funds received. These also provide necessary funding for the

administrative functions that support the grants through the facili-

ties and administrative reimbursement. In Fiscal Years 2010 and

2009, the University received $152,565,000 and $135,112,000,

respectively, of such administrative and facility overhead cost reim-

bursements. The University pledges portions of this reimburse-

ment revenue and other auxiliary revenues to satisfy its bond oblig-

ations, which are commonly referred to as pledged revenues. In

Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009, such reimbursements represented 58

percent and 57 percent of its pledged revenues, respectively, thus

creating a reliance on continued federal research funding.
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Figure 3. Summary of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets as of June 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008
(all dollars in thousands)

2010 2009 2008

Operating revenues $ 2,153,558 2,064,986 1,965,508

Operating expenses 2,285,433 2,184,317 2,040,775

Operating Loss (131,875) (119,331) (75,267)

Nonoperating revenues (net of expenses) 348,728 75,855 76,570

Income before Other Revenues, Expenses, Gains, or Losses 216,853 (43,476) 1,303

Other revenues 38,136 41,392 90,961

Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets 254,989 (2,084) 92,264

Net assets, beginning of year 2,129,674 2,131,758 2,039,494

Net Assets, end of year $ 2,384,663 2,129,674 2,131,758

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,

AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Figure 3 illustrates the University’s summary of revenues, expenses,

and changes in net assets. A key component of this summary is the

differentiation of operating and nonoperating activities. Operating

revenues are received for providing goods and services to the vari-

ous customers and constituencies of the University. Operating

expenses are paid to acquire or produce goods and services provid-

ed in return for operating revenues and to carry out the mission of

the University. Nonoperating revenues are received when goods

and services are not provided. Federal Pell Grant revenue of

$40,139,000 in 2010 and $24,131,000 in Fiscal Year 2009 is now

classified as nonoperating.

Figure 4 provides an illustration of gross operating and non-

operating revenues by major sources. These sources include both

State appropriated and non-appropriated funds (Note 12).

Appropriated funds primarily include tuition (which includes state

stipends), fee-for-service contract revenues, and academic fees. In

November 1992, Colorado voters passed Section 20, Article X of

the Colorado Constitution, commonly known as the Taxpayer’s

Bill of Rights (TABOR). TABOR contains revenue, spending, tax,

and debt limitations that apply to all the local governments and the

State of Colorado, including the University. In Fiscal Year 2005,

the Colorado State Legislature determined in Section 23-5-101.7

of the Colorado Revised Statutes that an institution of higher edu-

cation may be designated as an “enterprise” for the purposes of

TABOR so long as the institution’s governing board retains author-

ity to issue revenue bonds on its behalf and the institution receives

less than 10 percent of its total annual revenue in grants as defined

by TABOR. Further, so long as it is so designated as an enterprise,

the institution shall not be subject to any provisions of TABOR. In

July 2005, the University Board of Regents (the Regents) designat-

ed the University as a TABOR enterprise pursuant to the statute.

During the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, the

University believes it has met all requirements of TABOR enter-

prise status. The amount of state grants received by the University

was 1.57 percent and 2.40 percent during the Fiscal Years ended
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The Colorado Department of Higher Education (CDHE) pur-

chases graduate and specialized education services, such as law and

medicine, from public higher education institutions. In Fiscal Years

2010 and 2009, the University received $50,138,000 and

$101,940,000, respectively, as fee-for-service contract revenue. The

decrease in fee-for-service revenue from Fiscal Year 2008 through

Fiscal Year 2010 results from cuts made by the State in order to

balance the State budget.

The majority of health services includes medical practice plan rev-

enues earned through University Physicians, Inc. (UPI) (Notes 1

and 16), which has experienced continued clinical growth over the

last three years. The University has also experienced continued

growth in its auxiliary operations serving students, such as housing

and bookstores, consistent with the increase in the number of stu-

dents.

Beginning in Fiscal Year 2010, Federal Pell Grant revenue is shown

as nonoperating revenue. The increase in Pell funding from Fiscal

Year 2009 to Fiscal Year 2010 is due to a combination of increased

enrollment, an increase in the number of students eligible for Pell

grants due to economic conditions, and an increase in the maxi-

mum Pell award per student of $4,731 to $5,350.

The University received in Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009,

$17,150,000 and $17,997,000, respectively, in state appropriations

funded by State of Colorado tobacco litigation settlement monies.

The University recognized $8,512,000 in state appropriations

revenues in Fiscal Year 2008.
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Gifts increased approximately 13 percent between Fiscal Year 2010

and 2009. Gifts include amounts received through distributions

from the University’s supporting foundations and amounts

received directly by the University.

The variance in investment income is explained above in the

“Statement of Net Assets” section. The change in gain (loss) on

disposal of capital assets is due to the sale, at a gain, of the UPI

building in Fiscal Year 2009. This is included in other nonoperat-

ing revenues, net.

On February 17, 2009, ARRA was signed into law. ARRA is a

$787 billion economic package designed to stimulate the national

economy out of a continued recession. Included in the stimulus

package was $144 billion of federal funds allocated to state govern-

ments, via the State Fiscal Stabilization Fund (SFSF), to mitigate

the impacts of cuts made to their budgets resulting from the reces-

sion. The State of Colorado received $760 million from the SFSF

over a three year period of which $622 million was allocated for

education stabilization. In Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009, the

University received $120,888,000 and $49,995,000, respectively,

from the SFSF. The increase from Fiscal Year 2008 through Fiscal

Year 2010 is directly attributable to decreasing levels of state fund-

ing of the student stipend and fee-for-service contracts. In accept-

ing these funds, certain stipulations were placed on the use of the

funds, including taking steps to mitigate tuition and fee increases

for in-state students. As noted earlier, the state must expend these

funds by October 2011.

Figure 4. Operating and Nonoperating Revenues for Years Ended June 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008
(all dollars in thousands)

2010 2009 2008

Operating Revenues

Student tuition and fees, net $ 641,478 604,484 568,381

Fee-for-service 50,138 101,940 121,334

Grants and contracts 734,913 668,624 639,795

Sales and services of educational departments 138,683 130,057 120,433

Auxiliary enterprises, net 179,811 174,780 161,809

Health services 375,345 348,509 310,038

Other operating 33,190 36,592 43,718

Total Operating Revenues 2,153,558 2,064,986 1,965,508

Nonoperating Revenues

Federal Pell Grant 40,139 24,131 –

State appropriations 17,150 17,997 8,512

Gifts 87,951 77,919 81,233

Investment income (loss), net 103,486 (95,754) 719

State fiscal stabilization funds 120,888 49,995 –

Other nonoperating, net 16,945 16,977 17,118

Total Nonoperating Revenues 386,559 91,265 107,582

Total Revenues (noncapital) $ 2,540,117 2,156,251 2,073,090
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In addition to operating and nonoperating revenues, the University

had capital revenues in the amounts depicted in Figure 5. The

University did not seek new external financing of capital improve-

ments in Fiscal Year 2008 (also see the Capital Asset and Debt

Management section). As a result of construction and renovation of

certain buildings, the University recognized capital contributions

from the State of $12,199,000 and $8,818,000 in Fiscal Year 2010

and 2009, respectively. Capital contributions are related to the con-

struction of educational buildings at the UC Denver Anschutz

Medical Campus (AMC) and the University of Colorado at

Colorado Springs (UCCS) for which the financing was provided

by the State through the issuance of certificates of participation. In

Fiscal Year 2006, the State (not the University) issued

$192,625,000 of Certificates of Participation, Series 2005B (2006

COP) to fund construction of several educational buildings on the

UC Denver AMC. These buildings serve as collateral for the 2006

COP. In Fiscal Year 2009, the State issued $230,845,000 of Higher

Education Capital Construction Lease Purchase Financing Program

Certificates of Participation, Series 2008 (2009 COP) to fund addi-

tional construction activity for most of the state funded higher edu-

cation institutions. UCCS was allocated $17,085,000 from the

proceeds of the 2009 COP for the renovation of Centennial Hall.

Columbine Hall was used as collateral for the 2009 COP. The

Capital student fee increased from $7,730,000 in Fiscal Year 2009

to $10,385,000 in Fiscal Year 2010 due to an increase in the num-

ber of enrolled students and an increase in the fee amount. The

University also received additional appropriations from the State of

$8,792,000 in Fiscal Year 2010 compared to $21,437,000 in Fiscal

Year 2009. These monies are used for various controlled mainte-

nance and other capital construction activity. Capital additions
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were funded with the capital revenues and other existing resources.

This funding strategy resulted in an increase in capital gifts of 102

percent as well as the continuation of the student fee dedicated to

buildings which began in Fiscal Year 2007. The primary gift was

related to the Law School building at CU-Boulder.

The programmatic uses of resources are displayed in Figure 6 and

demonstrate that the focus is basically unchanged over the past

three fiscal years with the exception of academic, institutional, and

plant support. Total educational and general programs overall have

grown by 4 percent and 7 percent in Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009,

respectively, due to increases in instruction and research. Cost

management measures in place for the past several fiscal years were

continued and expanded in Fiscal Year 2010 as state budget cuts

have impacted the University’s operations. The objectives of such

measures are to expand programmatic costs to meet increased

demand for services, such as instruction, and provide for targeted

decreases in support services costs in planning for anticipated cuts

in State funding in the next few years. This is evident in the

decrease in academic, institutional, and plant support of almost

$22,745,000 from Fiscal Year 2009 to 2010. Research has contin-

ued to increase from Fiscal Year 2009 due to ARRA funded stimu-

lus grants and general overall growth in research funds received.

The amounts shown for student aid do not reflect the actual

resources dedicated to student aid. The majority of the University’s

student aid resources are netted against tuition and fee revenues as

a scholarship allowance (Note 13). The University’s scholarship

allowance was $123,492,000 and $109,903,000 in Fiscal Years

2010 and 2009, respectively.

Figure 5. Capital Revenues for Years Ended June 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008
(all dollars in thousands)

2010 2009 2008

Capital contributions from the State $ 12,199 8,818 34,088

Capital student fee (net) 10,385 7,730 5,045

Capital appropriations 8,792 21,437 18,838

Capital grants and gifts 6,753 3,344 31,604

Total Capital Revenues $ 38,129 41,329 89,575

Figure 6. Expense Program Categories for Years Ended June 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008 (all dollars in thousands)

2010 2009 2008

Instruction $ 676,943 644,669 587,143

Research 467,343 422,961 396,629

Public service 88,549 86,643 80,958

Academic, institutional, and plant support 330,827 353,572 342,210

Student aid and other services 103,845 97,454 91,520

Total Education and General 1,667,507 1,605,299 1,498,460

Depreciation 124,313 123,157 130,139

Auxiliary enterprises 149,720 137,758 132,632

Health services 343,893 318,103 279,544

Total Operating Expenses $ 2,285,433 2,184,317 2,040,775
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Figure 7. Capital Asset Categories (before depreciation) for Years Ended June 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008
(all dollars in thousands)

2010 2009 2008

Land $ 57,369 56,096 53,525

Construction in progress 307,184 173,099 98,159

Buildings and improvements 2,559,570 2,427,992 2,322,017

Equipment 459,354 431,904 413,715

Library and other collections 303,829 291,741 275,585

Total Capital Assets (gross) $ 3,687,306 3,380,832 3,163,001

Figure 8. Current Construction Projects as of June 30, 2010 (in thousands)

Campus/Project Description Financing Sources Value*

CU-Boulder:

Housing Williams Village Projects Bond proceeds $ 51,535

Center for Community (C4C) Bond proceeds and campus cash resources 84,433

Renovate Smith/Buckingham Bond proceeds 58,276

Williard Hall Renovation Campus cash resources 7,500

Basketball/Volleyball Practice Facility Bond proceeds and campus cash resources 10,800

Institute of Behavioral Sciences Campus cash resources 15,700

New Power Plant On hold 75,190

Joint Institute of Laboratory Astrophysics (JILA) Governmental grants and contracts, and campus cash resources 37,100

Biotechnology Building Systems Governmental grants and contracts, bond proceeds, and campus 148,010

cash resources

UC Denver:

Pharmacy Research Building Campus cash resources, private gifts, and bond proceeds 71,439

AMC Center for BioEthics and Humanities, new building Private gifts 8,255

1475 Lawrence Court Remodel Campus cash resources 15,453

AMC Health and Wellness Center Campus cash resources, private gifts, and bond proceeds 37,721

School of Dental Medicine Building Fourth Floor Addition Campus cash resources 8,201

RCI Energy Conservation Project Campus cash resources 6,276

UCCS:

Renovation of Centennial Hall Certificates of Participation proceeds 17,085

* Value represents budgeted costs for project in thousands

Increases in auxiliary enterprises expenses from Fiscal Year 2008 to

Fiscal Year 2010 are primarily attributable to the expansion of

housing operations and other student auxiliary operations as stu-

dent enrollment grows. Increases in expenses related to health ser-

vices, which are primarily related to UPI, are consistent with the

associated increases in health services revenue discussed earlier in

this section.

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT MANAGEMENT

The University had $3,687,306,000 and $3,380,832,000 of plant,

property, and equipment at June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively,

offset by accumulated depreciation of $1,355,323,000 and

$1,259,216,000, respectively. The major categories of plant, prop-

erty, and equipment at June 30, 2010 and 2009 are displayed in

Figure 7. Related depreciation charges of $124,313,000 and

$123,157,000 were recognized in the Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009,

respectively. Detailed financial activity related to the changes in

capital assets is presented in Note 5.

On December 11, 2009, the University issued $76,725,000 of Tax-

Exempt University Enterprise Revenue Bonds Subseries 2009B-1,

$138,130,000 of Taxable University Enterprise Revenue Bonds

Subseries 2009B-2 (Build America Bonds), and $24,510,000 of

Tax-Exempt University Enterprise Refunding Revenue Bonds

Series 2009C. The proceeds from the sale of these bonds are to

defray a portion of the cost of financing certain improvement pro-

jects and to finance the refunding, payment, and discharge of all or

a portion of certain outstanding obligations of the University.

Amounts reported for bonds payable do not include the State-

issued certificates of participation used to finance construction on

the campuses. That debt and associated debt service is recorded on
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the State’s financial records. The lease payment debt schedule from

the State indicates payments of approximately $14,536,000 for fis-

cal year 2010. The University continues to monitor the legislative

appropriation process to ensure State funding of the annual debt

service requirements exists. On December 9, 2009, the State, act-

ing through the Regents, issued $23,110,000 of Refunding

Certificates of Participation, Series 2009. The proceeds from this

issuance were used to advance refund and redeem a portion of the

Certificates of Participation, Series 2005B in order to lower the

amount and restructure the base rentals payable by the State under

the lease.

At June 30, 2010 and 2009, the University had debt (or similar

long-term obligations) of $1,152,753,000 and $967,330,000,

respectively, in the categories illustrated in Figure 9. The University

increased its outstanding debt in Fiscal Year 2010 by

$185,423,000, or 19 percent, primarily resulting from new bond

issuances of $239,365,000 (as described above) as offset by normal

annual debt service payments. This compares to an increase in out-

standing debt in Fiscal Year 2009 by 19 percent. Included in capi-

tal leases is a $39,370,000 lease purchase agreement associated with

a central utility plant (CUP) located on the UC Denver AMC.

The CUP delivers steam and chilled water to the campus. During

Fiscal Year 2008, the campus expanded the CUP, resulting in an

increase in the lease purchase agreement of $14,700,000. Capital

leases also include a $10,272,000 lease agreement with the Auraria

Higher Education Center associated with the build-out of educa-

tional space on the UC Denver Downtown campus. More detailed

information about the University’s debt is included in Note 9.

The Regents have adopted a debt management policy that includes

limitations on the use of external debt. The University Treasurer

will report to the Regents, prior to the issuance of new debt, the

effect that the new debt will have on the University’s debt capacity

ratio, in contrast to the 7 percent limit currently established by the

Regents. The ratio is calculated as maximum annual debt service as

a percentage of the University’s unrestricted current fund expendi-

tures plus mandatory transfers. State statute sets the maximum for

this ratio at 10 percent in C.R.S. 23-5-129.5 (2) (d). A component

of this policy is debt capacity, which is the calculated ratio of the

University’s debt service requirement as compared to certain un-

restricted revenues. The University maintained its debt capacity

limits. The University minimizes financing costs by monitoring

current market conditions and by maintaining a bond rating of

AA- and Aa3 (Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, respectively).

ECONOMIC FACTORS THAT WILL AFFECT

THE FUTURE

The University faces ongoing budgetary constraints due to the

economy. As part of the University’s efforts to streamline processes

and thereby make them more cost-efficient, the Regents opted out

of Colorado State Fiscal rules in June 2010 and adopted the

University of Colorado Fiscal Procedures. The flexibility enabled by

this change will be fully evaluated during Fiscal Year 2011 and

opportunities to enhance efficiencies while maintaining an accept-

able structure of internal control will be taken.

Since the start of the financial downturn, the University has imple-

mented budget reductions of over $51,000,000 in order to balance

its budgets. Appropriated funds from the State are budgeted to

increase from approximately $38,000,000 in Fiscal Year 2010 for

COF stipends to $55,000,000 in Fiscal Year 2011, and fee-for-

service appropriations funds are budgeted to increase from approxi-

mately $50,000,000 to approximately $104,000,000 in Fiscal Year

2011. This proposed increase in State funding is dependent upon

improving economic conditions, which is uncertain. At the start

of Fiscal Year 2011, the State and University have budgeted

$33,000,000 in ARRA funding. Additionally, the Regents

approved increases in tuition and fees for the 2010–11 school year.

If the increases in COF stipends and fee-for-service do not materi-

alize, and ARRA backfill funds do not fully cover the shortfall,

additional budget reductions will be required.

Enrollment headcount continues to increase. The University’s total

enrollment was 57,361, 56,311, and 54,174 in fall 2010, 2009,

and 2008 respectively. Total enrollment at CU-Boulder decreased

157 students compared to fall 2009. Total enrollment at UCCS

increased 428 students. Total enrollment at UC Denver

Downtown Campus increased 590 students, while total enrollment

at UC Denver AMC increased 189 students.

Figure 9. Debt Categories for years Ended June 30, 2010, 2009, and 2008
(all dollars in thousands)

2010 2009 2008

Revenue bonds $ 1,098,748 910,228 768,821

Capital leases 54,005 57,102 43,385

Certificates of participation and notes payable – – 48

Total Long-term Debt $ 1,152,753 967,330 812,254
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Research funding also continues to increase. Research funding in

Fiscal Year 2010 was $734,913,000, $668,624,000 in Fiscal Year

2009 (each of which do not include the Federal Pell Grant) versus

$639,795,000 in Fiscal Year 2008 (which does include the Federal

Pell Grant).

Auxiliary enterprises revenue continues its increase. Fiscal Year

2010 auxiliary enterprises revenue was $179,811,000, Fiscal Year

2009 auxiliary enterprises revenue was $174,780,000, and Fiscal

Year 2008 auxiliary enterprises revenue was $161,809,000.

The receipt of ARRA funding, in combination with continued

budget cuts, enrollment tuition and increases, and increases in

other funding sources has enabled the University to continue to

balance its budget during several years of decreasing State support.

Management of the University is developing plans in anticipation

of possible future budget reductions to continue its fiscal stability

throughout the current climate.
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2010 2009

Component Component

University Units University Units

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 44,482 34,321 56,058 37,489

Investments 250,396 2,011 320,715 1,402

Accounts, contributions, and loans receivable, net 211,615 16,577 187,105 24,638

Inventories 11,151 – 10,880 –

Other assets 4,489 2,132 5,872 411

Total Current Assets 522,133 55,041 580,630 63,940

Noncurrent Assets

Investments and restricted cash 1,201,273 933,213 951,685 831,045

Assets held under split-interest agreements – 53,570 – 51,406

Accounts, contributions, and loans receivable, net 32,989 36,074 33,066 30,963

Other assets 15,150 6,238 17,113 6,251

Capital assets, net 2,331,983 65,955 2,121,616 72,058

Total Noncurrent Assets 3,581,395 1,095,050 3,123,480 991,723

Total Assets $ 4,103,528 1,150,091 3,704,110 1,055,663

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 69,997 6,388 70,794 5,549

Accrued expenses 170,168 – 161,117 –

Compensated absences and other postemployment benefits 17,642 – 15,008 –

Deferred revenue 116,151 1,330 99,793 1,144

Securities lending – – 88,456 –

Bonds, leases, and notes payable 41,428 797 34,612 948

Split-interest agreements – 3,397 – 3,298

Custodial funds – 6,780 – 6,174

Other liabilities 37,404 – 32,862 –

Total Current Liabilities 452,790 18,692 502,642 17,113

Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated absences and other postemployment benefits 138,993 – 121,495 –

Deferred revenue 5,375 – 5,597 –

Bonds, leases, and notes payable 1,111,325 71,245 932,718 74,443

Split-interest agreements – 17,594 – 18,013

Custodial funds – 199,255 – 184,940

Other liabilities 10,382 1,883 11,984 2,118

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 1,266,075 289,977 1,071,794 279,514

Total Liabilities $ 1,718,865 308,669 1,574,436 296,627

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO

STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS

June 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.



2010 2009

Component Component

University Units University Units

Net Assets

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt $ 1,351,486 83 1,248,656 2,697

Restricted for nonexpendable purposes (endowments)

Instruction – 167,074 – 152,788

Research 3,029 18,490 2,919 17,198

Academic support 19,063 13,826 16,804 13,410

Scholarships and fellowships 21,636 97,283 20,001 91,729

Capital and other 2,399 6,317 2,244 6,276

Total restricted for nonexpendable purposes 46,127 302,990 41,968 281,401

Restricted for expendable purposes

Instruction 16,649 207,839 16,092 184,127

Research 23,226 45,482 21,560 37,201

Academic support 13,929 36,410 13,330 34,088

Student loans and services 38,743 – 39,327 –

Scholarships and fellowships 15,102 93,623 14,369 82,493

Auxiliary enterprises 156,298 – 146,969 –

Capital 26,261 82,985 19,922 82,297

Other 13,498 5,092 12,443 5,246

Total restricted for expendable purposes 303,706 471,431 284,012 425,452

Unrestricted 683,344 66,918 555,038 49,486

Total Net Assets $ 2,384,663 841,422 2,129,674 759,036

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO

STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS

June 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands)
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See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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2010 2009

Component Component

University Units University Units

Operating Revenues

Student tuition (net of scholarship allowances of $108,027 in 2010

and $97,283 in 2009; pledged revenues of $58,011 in 2010

and $55,107 in 2009) $ 580,106 – 551,074 –

Student fees (net of scholarship allowances of $11,286 in 2010

and $9,487 in 2009; pledged revenues of $8,621 in 2010

and $7,762 in 2009) 61,372 – 53,410 –

Fee-for-service contracts 50,138 – 101,940 –

Federal grants and contracts (pledged revenues of $129,437

in 2010 and $111,408 in 2009) 597,124 – 532,997 –

State and local grants and contracts (pledged revenues of

$9,650 in 2010 and $9,690 in 2009) 47,363 – 51,086 –

Nongovernmental grants and contracts 90,426 – 84,541 –

Sales and services of educational departments (pledged revenues

of $8,505 in 2010 and $7,787 in 2009) 138,683 – 130,057 –

Auxiliary enterprises (net of scholarship allowances of $2,534

in 2010 and $2,013 in 2009; pledged revenues of $48,536

in 2010 and $44,492 in 2009) 179,811 – 174,780 –

Health services 375,345 – 348,509 –

Contributions – 89,480 – 101,741

Other operating revenues (pledged revenues of $1,566 in

2010 and $2,092 in 2009) 33,190 18,363 36,592 13,421

Total Operating Revenues 2,153,558 107,843 2,064,986 115,162

Operating Expenses

Education and General

Instruction 676,943 – 644,669 –

Research 467,343 – 422,961 –

Public service 88,549 – 86,643 –

Academic support 121,285 – 120,514 –

Student services 78,810 – 80,781 –

Institutional support 124,045 98,230 130,152 93,603

Operation and maintenance of plant 85,497 – 102,906 –

Student aid 25,035 – 16,673 –

Total Education and General Expenses 1,667,507 98,230 1,605,299 93,603

Depreciation 124,313 3,252 123,157 3,206

Auxiliary enterprises 149,720 – 137,758 –

Health services 343,893 – 318,103 –

Total Operating Expenses 2,285,433 101,482 2,184,317 96,809

Operating Income (Loss) $ (131,875) 6,361 (119,331) 18,353

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.



2010 2009

Component Component

University Units University Units

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Federal Pell Grant $ 40,139 – 24,131 –

State appropriations 17,150 – 17,997 –

Gifts 87,951 – 77,919 –

Investment income (loss) (net of investment expenses of

$6,534 in 2010 and $5,607 in 2009; pledged revenues of

$25 in 2010 and $0 in 2009) 103,486 80,444 (95,754) (108,372)

Royalty income (net of royalty expense of $3,004 in 2010 and

$3,359 in 2009; pledged revenues of $134 in 2010

and $136 in 2009) 2,465 – 4,181 –

Gain on disposal of capital assets 791 – 21,241 –

Loss on debt extinguishment (1,152) – (722) –

Interest expense on capital asset-related debt (38,622) (4,419) (36,651) (4,557)

State fiscal stabilization funds 120,888 – 49,995 –

Other nonoperating revenues (net of expenses of $11 in 2010

and $3 in 2009; pledged revenues of $36 in 2010 and

$28 in 2009) 15,632 – 13,518 –

Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 348,728 76,025 75,855 (112,929)

Income (Loss) Before Other Revenues 216,853 82,386 (43,476) (94,576)

Capital contributions from the State 12,199 – 8,818 –

Capital student fee (net of scholarship allowance of $1,645 in

2010 and $1,120 in 2009) 10,385 – 7,730 –

Capital appropriations 8,792 – 21,437 –

Capital grants and gifts 6,753 – 3,344 –

Additions to permanent endowments 7 – 63 –

Total Other Revenues 38,136 – 41,392 –

Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets 254,989 82,386 (2,084) (94,576)

Net Assets, Beginning of Year 2,129,674 759,036 2,131,758 853,612

Net Assets, End of Year $ 2,384,663 841,422 2,129,674 759,036

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands)
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See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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2010 2009

University

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Tuition and fees $ 691,148 599,366

Grants and contracts 728,976 769,808

Payments to suppliers (610,899) (552,586)

Payments to employees and benefits (1,501,055) (1,459,972)

Payments for scholarships and fellowships (25,035) (15,768)

Loans – 1,169

Auxiliary enterprise charges 181,641 173,917

Sales and services of educational departments 138,683 129,223

Health services 372,091 352,729

Other receipts 52,232 50,849

Total Cash Flows Provided by Operating Activities 27,782 48,735

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities

State appropriations 17,150 17,997

Federal Pell Grant 40,139 24,131

Gifts and grants for other than capital purposes 71,179 72,257

Endowment additions 7 63

William D. Ford direct lending receipts 253,963 177,978

William D. Ford direct lending disbursements (253,538) (180,963)

PLUS loans receipts 70,451 71,356

PLUS loans disbursements (69,915) (71,372)

School as lender disbursements – (9)

Agency transactions 71 (3,098)

State fiscal stabilization fund receipts 120,888 49,995

Total Cash Flows Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities 250,395 158,335

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Proceeds from capital debt 246,739 168,690

Capital grants and gifts received 17,138 10,028

State capital contributions 12,199 8,818

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 3,545 37,542

Purchases and construction of capital assets (298,932) (208,511)

Principal paid on capital debt (59,199) (30,180)

Interest paid on capital debt (48,342) (41,319)

Total Cash Flows Used for Capital and Related Financing Activities (126,852) (54,932)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 3,314,594 3,678,642

Purchase of investments (3,425,757) (3,865,177)

Securities lending transaction (88,456) 19,356

Loans made (300) –

Interest on investments 41,087 26,600

Royalty income 5,469 7,540

Royalty fees paid (3,004) (3,359)

Investment management fees paid (6,534) (5,607)

Total Cash Flows Used for Investing Activities (162,901) (142,005)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (11,576) 10,133

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 56,058 45,925

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 44,482 56,058

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.



2010 2009

University

Reconciliation of Net Operating Loss to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Operating loss $ (131,875) (119,331)

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used by operating activities

Depreciation expense 124,313 123,157

Provision for doubtful receivables 973 4,672

Receipts of items classified as nonoperating revenues 15,631 10,823

Changes in assets and liabilities

Receivables (24,874) (9,263)

Notes receivable – 347

Inventories (271) (686)

Other assets 3,346 (1,982)

Accounts payable (797) (1,455)

Accrued expenses 8,447 14,043

Deferred revenue 16,136 10,168

Compensated absences and other postemployment benefits 20,132 21,228

Other liabilities (3,379) (2,986)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 27,782 48,735

Noncash Transactions

Capital additions (gifts, leases) $ 22,458 46,586

Amortization of deferred loss (1,157) –

Amoritzation of premiums (2,273) –

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 68,106 (114,874)

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands)
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See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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NOTE 1—BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

GOVERNANCE

The University of Colorado (the University) is a comprehensive

degree-granting research university in the State of Colorado (the

State). It is governed by a nine-member Board of Regents (the

Regents) elected by popular vote in the State’s general elections.

Serving staggered six-year terms, one member is elected from each

of the State’s seven congressional districts with two Regents elected

from the State at large. The University comprises the system offices

and the following three accredited campuses, each with its unique

mission as detailed below:

• University of Colorado at Boulder (CU-Boulder)

Established in 1861, CU-Boulder is a comprehensive graduate

research university (with selective admission standards) offering a

comprehensive array of undergraduate, master’s, and doctoral

degree programs.

• University of Colorado Denver (UC Denver)

Originally operated as two separate campuses, the Health

Sciences Center and the Denver campus were established in

1883 and 1974, respectively. In 2004, the two campuses were

merged into the single campus operation. UC Denver is an

urban comprehensive research university offering a full range of

undergraduate, graduate, and professional degree programs in

life sciences, professional programs, and liberal arts.

• University of Colorado at Colorado Springs (UCCS)

Established as a separate campus in 1965, UCCS is a compre-

hensive graduate university (with selective admission standards)

offering a comprehensive array of undergraduate, master, and

doctoral degree programs.

To accomplish its mission, the University’s 5,429 instructional

faculty serve 57,361 students through 360 degree programs in 28

schools and colleges.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND FINANCIAL
REPORTING ENTITY

Blended Component Units

The University’s financial reporting entity includes the operations

of the University and all related entities for which the University is

financially accountable and that provide services entirely to the

University, referred to as blended component units. Financial

accountability may stem from the University’s ability to appoint a

majority of the governing board of the related organization, its

ability to impose its will on the related organization, its ability to

access assets, or its responsibility for debts of the related organiza-

tion. The University has the following blended component units:

• Buffalo Power Corporation

Established in 1991, Buffalo Power is a Colorado nonprofit cor-

poration organized to facilitate the construction and financing

of a cogeneration plant project (plant). Buffalo Power

Corporation’s directors are appointed by the Regents. The plant

is designed to supply steam and electric power to CU-Boulder.

Excess electricity produced by the plant is sold to third parties

by CU-Boulder. There are no assets, liabilities, net assets, rev-

enues, or expenses for Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009.

• University of Colorado Finance Corporation

Established in 1998, the University of Colorado Finance

Corporation is a Colorado nonprofit corporation organized to

facilitate the acquisition of personal and real property for the

University. There is no financial activity for this corporation for

Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009.

• University of Colorado Insurance Pool (UCIP)

Established in 1993, UCIP is a public entity insurance pool

operated for the benefit of the University and the University of

Colorado Hospital Authority that insures property, liability, and

workers’ compensation risks under the regulatory authority of

the Colorado Division of Insurance. Effective September 30,

1996, the University discontinued utilizing UCIP for its insur-

ance and began utilizing a protected self-insurance program

(Note 10). UCIP is responsible for claims covered under the

terms of its policies. UCIP was legally dissolved as of June 30,

2009.

• University License Equity Holding, Inc. (ULEHI)

Originally established in 1992, with a significant reorganization

in 2001, ULEHI facilitates certain licensing activities for the

University. ULEHI is a nonprofit entity under Section 501(c)(3)

of the Internal Revenue Code. Detailed financial information

may be obtained directly from ULEHI at 4740 Walnut St.,

Boulder, Colorado 80301.

• University Physicians, Inc. (UPI)

Established in 1982, UPI performs the billing, collection, and

disbursement services for the professional health services

rendered for UC Denver as authorized in Section 23-20-114,

Colorado Revised Statutes. UPI, a nonprofit entity under

Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, collects patient

and other revenues generated from professional activities by

over 1,000 member physicians of the faculty of the School of

Medicine. Medical care is provided to patients throughout the

Rocky Mountain region through a statewide and regional net-

work of services with over 160 sites of practice. In 1997, UPI

acquired a 30 percent interest in the University of Colorado

Hospital Authority’s investment in TriWest Healthcare Alliance

Corp. (TriWest). TriWest was formed to deliver health care ser-

vices to eligible beneficiaries of the Civilian Health and Medical

Program of the Uniformed Services within certain specified geo-

graphic regions. UPI accounts for its participation in TriWest on

the cost basis. Detailed financial information may be obtained

directly from UPI at P.O. Box 876, Aurora, Colorado 80040.

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2010 and 2009



Discretely Presented Component Units

The University’s financial statements include certain supporting

organizations as discretely presented component units (DPCU)

of the University (labeled component units). The majority of the

resources, or income thereon that the supporting organizations

hold and invest, are restricted to the activities of the University

by the donors. Because these restricted resources held by the

supporting organizations can only be used by, or for the benefit

of, the University, the following supporting organizations are con-

sidered DPCU of the University:

• Coleman Colorado Foundation (Coleman Foundation)

Established in August 2001, the Coleman Foundation is a non-

profit entity under Sections 501(c)(3) and 509(a)(3) of the

Internal Revenue Code and was established to support the Uni-

versity’s operational unit, the University of Colorado Coleman

Institute for Cognitive Disabilities, and related activities and

professorships. A five-member board of directors governs the

Coleman Foundation.

• University of Colorado Foundation (CU Foundation)

Established in 1967, the CU Foundation solicits, receives, holds,

invests, and transfers funds for the benefit of the University. The

CU Foundation, a nonprofit entity under Section 501(c)(3) of

the Internal Revenue Code, has a 15-member board of directors,

of which a member of the Regents and the president of the

University serve as ex-officio non-voting members.

The Alumni Association of the University of Colorado at

Boulder (Boulder Alumni Association) was a division of the

CU Foundation until September 1, 2008, at which point the

CU Foundation transferred the operations of the Boulder

Alumni Association to the University.

In October 2007, the CU Foundation established University

Summit I, LLC (University Summit), a Colorado limited

liability company, whose sole member is the CU Foundation.

University Summit was established for the purpose of purchas-

ing property adjacent to UCCS. UCCS purchased this property

from the CU Foundation in May 2010.

In January 2008, the CU Foundation established 1475

Lawrence Street I, LLC (1475 Lawrence), a Colorado limited

liability company, whose sole member is the CU Foundation.

1475 Lawrence was established for the purpose of purchasing

property adjacent to the UC Denver downtown campus. This

property was sold to UC Denver in June 2008.

Under an agreement between the CU Foundation and the

University, the CU Foundation provides development and

investment services to the University in exchange for a fee.

Detailed financial information may be obtained directly from

the CU Foundation at 4740 Walnut Street, Boulder, Colorado

80301.

• The University of Colorado Real Estate Foundation

(CUREF)

Established in August 2002, CUREF solicits and manages real

estate investments for the sole benefit of the University. CUREF,

a nonprofit entity under Section 501(c)(3) and 509(a)(3) of

the Internal Revenue Code, has up to a 14-member board of

directors. Nine are voting members, of which four are appointed

by the University. There are up to five ex-officio non-voting

members.

In May 2005, Campus Village Apartments, LLC (CVA) was

formed with CUREF as the sole shareholder to promote the

general welfare, development, growth, and well being of the

University, specifically by acquiring, constructing, improving,

equipping, and operating a new student housing facility located

in Denver, Colorado.

18th Avenue, LLC (18th Avenue), a Colorado limited liability

company, was formed under the laws of the State of Colorado

on April 26, 2006, with CUREF as the sole member. 18th

Avenue is organized, operated, and dedicated exclusively to pro-

moting CUREF’s charitable purposes and to promoting the gen-

eral welfare, development, growth, and well being of the

University of Colorado, and specifically for the primary purpose

of acquiring, owning, operating, and maintaining real property

consisting of an office building in Denver, Colorado.

33rd Street, LLC (33rd Street), a Colorado limited liability com-

pany, was formed under the laws of the State of Colorado on

April 26, 2006, with CUREF as the sole member. 33rd Street is

organized, operated, and dedicated exclusively to promoting the

general welfare, development, growth, and well being of the

University of Colorado, and specifically for the primary purpose

of acquiring, owning, operating, and maintaining real property

consisting of an industrial building in Boulder, Colorado.

Partnership Holdings Venture, LLC (PHV LLC), a Colorado

limited liability company, was formed under the laws of the

State of Colorado on January 10, 2008, with CUREF as the

sole member. PHV LLC is organized, operated, and dedicated

solely to promoting the general welfare, development, growth,

and well being of the University of Colorado, and specifically

for the primary purpose of acquiring, ownership, operation,

management, sale, and disposition of investments including

membership interest in real estate properties.

Land Holdings Venture, LLC (LHV LLC), a Colorado limited

liability company, was formed under the laws of the State of

Colorado on January 10, 2008, with CUREF as the sole mem-

ber. PHV LLC is organized, operated, and dedicated solely to

promoting the general welfare, development, growth, and well

being of the University of Colorado, and specifically for the pri-

mary purpose of acquiring, ownership, operation, management,

sale, and disposition of investments including holdings in land.

Detailed financial information may be obtained directly from

CUREF at 1800 Grant Street, Suite 250, Denver, CO 80203.

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2010 and 2009
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Joint Ventures and Related Organizations

The University has associations with the following organizations

for which it is not financially accountable, or has primary access to

the resources. Accordingly, these organizations have not been

included in the University’s financial statements. Information

regarding the nature of the relationships is included in Note 18.

• University of Colorado Hospital Authority (Hospital Authority)

• Auraria Higher Education Center (AHEC)

• University of Colorado Health and Welfare Trust (the Trust)

Relationship to State of Colorado

Article VIII, Section 5 of the Colorado Constitution declares the

University to be a state institution. Thus, for financial reporting

purposes, the University is included as part of the State’s primary

government.

TAX-EXEMPT STATUS

The income generated by the University, as an instrumentality of

the State, is generally excluded from federal income taxes under

Section 115(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. The University also

has a determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service stat-

ing it is exempt under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue

Code as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3). Income

generated from activities unrelated to the University’s exempt pur-

pose is subject to tax under Internal Revenue Code Section

511(a)(2)(B). There was no tax liability related to income generat-

ed from activities unrelated to the University’s exempt purpose as

of June 30, 2010 and 2009.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

For financial reporting purposes, the University is considered a

special-purpose government engaged only in business-type activi-

ties. Accordingly, the University’s financial statements have been

prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the

accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting,

revenues are recognized when earned, and expenses are recorded

when an obligation is incurred.

The University applies all applicable Governmental Accounting

Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. In addition, the

University has chosen to only apply Financial Accounting

Standards Board (FASB) Statements and Interpretations,

Accounting Principles Board Opinions, and Accounting Research

Bulletins issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless those

pronouncements conflict with, or contradict, GASB pronounce-

ments.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and Cash Equivalents are defined for the purposes of

reporting cash flows as cash on hand and deposit accounts.

Investments in mutual funds and deposits with the State Treasurer

are presented as investments. UPI and the DPCU consider money

market accounts with a maturity, when acquired, of three months

or less to be cash equivalents.

Investments, other than University investments held by the

DPCU, are reported in the financial statements at fair value, which

is determined primarily based on quoted market prices as of June

30, 2010 and 2009. Amortized costs (which approximate fair

value) are used for money market investments.

The classification of investments as current or noncurrent is based

on the underlying nature and restricted use of the asset. Current

investments are those without restrictions imposed by third parties

that can be used to pay current obligations of the University.

Noncurrent investments include restricted investments and those

investments designated to be used for long-term obligations.

The University’s investment policies permit investments in fixed-

income and equity securities and alternative strategies. These

policies are implemented using individual securities, mutual

funds, commingled funds, and alternative investments for the

endowments.

Investments of the DPCU, including those held for the University

for endowment purposes, are comprised of marketable securities

and alternative investments such as interest in private equity part-

nerships and real estate. All investments are stated at fair value

based upon quoted market prices, professional appraisals, other

readily determinable information, and information reported by

investment managers and reviewed by the DPCU management.

Endowments and similar gift instruments owned by the University

and the DPCU are primarily recorded as investments in the

accompanying financial statements. Endowment funds are subject

to the restrictions of donor gift instruments requiring the principal

to be invested in perpetuity. Life income funds are used to account

for cash or other property contributed to the University subject to

the requirement that the University periodically pay the income

earned on such assets to a designated beneficiary. The assets of life

income funds become the property of the University or DPCU

upon the death of the designated beneficiary. Annuity funds are

used to account for property contributed to the University or

DPCU in exchange for a promise to pay a fixed amount to the

donor for a specified period of time. In addition, certain funds

have been established by the Regents to function as endowment

funds until the restrictions are lifted by the Regents.

Accounts, Contributions, and Loans Receivable are

recorded net of estimated uncollectible amounts, approximating

anticipated losses.

Contributions receivable for the DPCU are unconditional prom-

ises to give. Promises to give to CUREF are recorded at net realiz-

able value if expected to be collected within one year and at fair

value if expected to be collected in more than one year. The DPCU

use the allowance method to determine the uncollectible portion of

the unconditional contributions receivable. The allowance is based

on management’s analysis of the historical collectability of contri-

butions pledged. These promises to give are recorded at the net

present value of the expected future cash flows using a risk-free

interest rate.

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2010 and 2009



vest in vacation and sick leave earnings based on their hire date and

length of service. Professional exempt and faculty employees accrue

sick leave with pay at the rate of 10 hours per month with a maxi-

mum accrual of 960 hours while classified employees earn 6.67

hours per month with a maximum accrual of 360 hours for

employees hired after June 30, 1988. Employees hired before June

30, 1988, can accrue up to 360 hours in excess of amount of sick

leave earned as of June 30, 1988. Employees earn and accrue vaca-

tion leave per the rates in Table 1.2, Compensated Absence Accrual

Rates for Vacation. Vacation accruals are paid in full upon separa-

tion, whereas only a portion of sick leave is paid upon specific

types of separation, such as retirement.

The liability for compensated absences is expected to be funded by

various sources of revenue that are available in future years when

the liability is paid.

Postemployment Benefits consist of University-provided post-

retirement healthcare and life insurance benefits for retired

employees in accordance with the Regents’ authority, as a single-

employer plan. Substantially all University employees may become

eligible for those benefits if they reach normal retirement age while

working for the University. The University’s contributions are made

on a pay-as-you-go basis. The University’s annual other post-

employment benefit (OPEB) expense is calculated based on the

annual required contribution (ARC) of the University, an amount

actuarially determined. The ARC represents a level of funding that,

if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each

year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or fund excess)

of the plan over a period not to exceed 30 years.
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For all other receivables, individual accounts are written off against

the allowance when collection of the account appears doubtful.

Bad debts substantially consist of write-offs for uncollectible bal-

ances on self-pay patients and contributions receivable.

Inventories are primarily accounted for using the consumption

method and are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is deter-

mined using either first-in, first-out, average cost, or retail method.

Other Assets consists of prepaid expenses, travel advances,

issuance costs, and deferred charges.

Capital Assets are stated at cost at the date of acquisition or at

fair value at the date of donation. For equipment, the capitalization

policy includes all items with a value of $5,000 or more, and an

estimated useful life of greater than one year.

Intangibles and renovations to buildings and other improvements

that significantly increase the value or extend the useful life of the

structure are capitalized. For intangibles and renovations and

improvements, the capitalization policy includes items with a value

of $75,000 or more. Routine repairs and maintenance are charged

to operating expense. Major outlays for capital assets and improve-

ments are capitalized as construction in progress throughout the

building project. Interest incurred during the construction phase is

included as part of the value of the construction in progress.

All collections, such as works of art and historical artifacts, have

been capitalized at cost at the date of acquisition or fair value at the

date of donation. The nature of certain collections is such that the

value and usefulness of the collections does not decrease over time.

These collections have not been depreciated in the accompanying

financial statements.

Assets under capital leases are recorded at the present value of

future minimum lease payments and are amortized using the

straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the esti-

mated useful life. Such amortization is included as depreciation

expense in the accompanying financial statements.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method and

monthly convention over the estimated useful lives of the assets as

displayed in Table 1.1, Asset Useful Lives.

Table 1.1. Asset Useful Lives

Asset Class Years

Buildings 20–50*

Improvements other than buildings 10–40

Equipment 3–20

Library and other collections 6–15

Intangibles Varies

*Certain buildings are componentized, and the components may have useful lives
similar to improvements or equipment.
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Table 1.2. Compensated Absence Accrual Rates for
Vacation

Days Earned Maximum

Years of Service per Month* Accrual

Classified employees hired before

January 1, 1968 1.25–1.75 days 30–42 days

Classified employees hired on or after

January 1, 1968 1.00–1.75 days 24–42 days

Professional exempt and faculty

employees 1.83 days 44 days**

*Rates are for full-time employees; part-time employees earn at pro-rata based
on percentage of appointment.

**Effective September 1, 1976, vacation accrual in excess of 44 days, earned in
accordance with prior policies, will be carried forward; however, persons with
unused vacation in excess of 44 days may not accumulate additional vacation
time by failure to use vacation earned after that date.

Compensated Absences and Postemployment Benefits

and related personnel expenses are recognized based on estimated

balances due to employees upon termination or retirement. The

limitations on such payments are defined by the rules associated

with the personnel systems at the University. Employees accrue and

Deferred Revenue consists of amounts received from the provi-

sion of education, research, auxiliary goods and services, and

royalties that have not yet been earned.

Bonds, Leases, and Notes Payable are debt by borrowings or

financing usually of buildings, equipment, or capital construction.

Bonds are addressed in Note 9 and represent borrowings made by

the University to finance capital construction.



34

Capital Leases consists of various lease-purchase contracts and

other lease agreements. Such contracts provide that any commit-

ments beyond the current year are contingent upon funds being

appropriated for such purposes by the Regents. It is reasonably

assured that such leases will be renewed in the normal course of

business and, therefore, are treated as non-cancelable for financial

reporting purposes.

Split-interest Agreements are beneficial interests in various

agreements which include gift annuities, charitable remainder

annuity trusts and unitrusts, and a pooled income fund. The

DPCU typically serves as trustee, although certain trusts are

administered by outside trustees.

For trusts administered by the DPCU, specified earnings are typi-

cally paid to a named beneficiary. After termination of the trusts,

the assets revert to the DPCU to create an endowment to support

University activities or to be temporarily restricted for other pur-

poses at the University. Assets received under such agreements are

typically marketable equity and fixed-income securities, are record-

ed at their market value, and are included in investments in the

accompanying financial statements. The estimated net present

value of the obligation to named beneficiaries is recorded as a lia-

bility under split-interest agreements. A risk-free rate, using U.S.

Treasury bonds at the date of the gift, was used in conjunction

with actuarially determined life expectancies to calculate present

values. The fair value of assets received in excess of the obligation is

recognized as contribution revenue at the date of the gift. Changes

in the value of the investments are combined with the changes in

the estimated liability and are recorded in the accompanying finan-

cial statements.

In cases where a split-interest agreement is administered by an out-

side trustee, the DPCU records the estimated fair value of future

cash flows from the trust as a contribution receivable from charita-

ble remainder trusts at the point at which the University or the

DPCU becomes aware of its interest in the trust. Under certain

circumstances, the DPCU accepts and manages trust funds for

which the University or the DPCU has beneficial interest but is

not the sole beneficiary of the trust. Funds received for which the

University or the DPCU is not the ultimate beneficiary are includ-

ed as other liabilities in the accompanying financial statements and

are not included in contributions revenue.

Custodial Funds consist of funds held by the DPCU for endow-

ments legally owned by other entities, including the University.

Other Liabilities are addressed in Note 10 and consists of risk

financing, construction contract retainage, funds held for others,

and miscellaneous.

Net Assets are classified in the accompanying financial state-

ments as follows:

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt represents the total
investment in capital assets, net of outstanding debt obligations

related to those capital assets. To the extent debt has been

incurred but not yet expended for capital assets, such amounts

are not included as a component of invested in capital assets, net

of related debt.

Restricted for nonexpendable purposes consists of endowments
and similar instruments in which donors or other outside

sources have stipulated, as a condition of the gift instrument,

that the principal is to be maintained inviolate and in per-

petuity, and invested for the purpose of producing present and

future income, which may either be expended or added to

principal.

Restricted for expendable purposes represents net resources in
which the University or the DPCU is legally or contractually

obligated to spend resources in accordance with restrictions

imposed by external third parties.

Unrestricted net assets represent net resources derived from
student tuition and fees, fee-for-service contracts, and sales and

services of educational departments. These resources are used for

transactions relating to the educational and general operations of

the University and may be used at the discretion of the Regents

to meet current expenses for any purpose. These resources also

include those from auxiliary enterprises, which are substantially

self-supporting activities that provide services for students, facul-

ty, and staff.

Internal Transactions occur between University operating units,

including its formal self-funded internal service units and blended

component units. Examples of self-funded operating units are

telecommunications, cogeneration, and storerooms. Transactions

include the recognition of revenues, expenses, receivables, and

payables in the appropriate accounts of the operating units. To

accommodate external financial reporting, the internal revenues

and receivables are netted against expenses and payables, respec-

tively.

Classification of Revenues and Expenses in the accompa-

nying financial statements has been made according to the follow-

ing criteria:

Operating revenues are derived from activities associated with

providing goods and services for instruction, research, public

service, health services, or related support to entities separate

from the University and that are exchange transactions.

Examples include student tuition and fees, fee-for-service con-

tracts, sales and services of auxiliary enterprises, healthcare and

patient services, grants, and contracts. Tuition and fee revenue

for sessions that are conducted over two fiscal years is allocated

on a pro-rata basis. Operating revenues also include contribu-

tions to the DPCU, which are derived from their fundraising

mission.
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Operating expenses are paid to acquire or produce goods and ser-
vices provided in return for operating revenues and to carry out

the mission of the University.

Nonoperating revenues and expenses include all revenues and
related expenses that do not meet the definition of operating

revenues, capital revenues, or endowment additions. They are

primarily derived from activities that are non-exchange transac-

tions (e.g., gifts), from activities defined as such by the GASB

cash flow standards (e.g., investment income) and also federal

funds allocated to state governments, via the State Fiscal

Stabilization Fund (SFSF), and insurance recoveries.

Scholarship Allowances are the difference between the stated

charge for the goods and services provided by the University and

the amount that is paid by the students or by other third parties

making payments on the students’ behalf. Student tuition and fee

revenues and certain other auxiliary enterprise revenues are reported

net of scholarship allowance in the accompanying financial state-

ments. Certain grants from external governmental and private pro-

grams are recorded as either operating or nonoperating revenues in

the accompanying financial statements. To the extent that such

grant revenues are used to satisfy tuition and fees and other student

charges, the University records scholarship allowances. Any excess

grant revenues are recorded as student aid operating expense.

Health Service Revenue from Contractual Arrangements

is recognized by UPI as a result of providing care to patients

covered under various third parties such as Medicare and Medicaid,

private insurance companies, and managed care programs, pri-

marily from fixed-rate agreements. The federal and state govern-

ment annually update fixed-rate agreements for Medicare and

Medicaid, respectively. In addition to the standard Medicaid

program, UPI provides substantial care to Medicaid patients under

the Colorado Access program. Contractual arrangements with

insurance companies and managed care plans are negotiated peri-

odically for future years.

Health services revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable

amounts due from third-party payers and others for services ren-

dered. Net patient service revenue includes care provided to

patients who meet certain criteria under UPI’s medically indigent

care policy as reimbursed with funds provided by the State

processed by the Hospital Authority, and co-payments made by

care recipients. In accordance with UPI’s mission and philosophy,

UPI members annually provide substantial levels of charity care to

patients who meet certain defined criteria. Charity care relates to

services rendered for which no payment is expected.

Donor Restricted Endowment disbursements of the net appre-

ciation (realized and unrealized) of investments of endowment gifts

are permitted by state law, except where a donor has specified oth-

erwise. The amount of earnings and net appreciation available for

spending by the University and the CU Foundation is based on a

spending rate set by the CU Foundation board on an annual basis.

For the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, the authorized

spending rate was equal to the greater of 4 percent of the prior
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month’s market value or 4.5 percent of the prior 36-month average

market value of endowment investments. Earnings in excess of the

amount authorized for spending are available in future years and

are included in the value of the related investment. Earnings autho-

rized to be spent are recognized in the University’s financial state-

ments as investment or gift revenue for University or CU

Foundation-owned endowments, respectively.

Application of Restricted and Unrestricted Resources is

made on a case-by-case basis by management depending on overall

program resources. Generally, management applies unrestricted

resources then restricted resources when both restricted and unre-

stricted resources are available to pay an expense.

Use of Estimates is made in order to prepare financial state-

ments in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America. Management is required to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabili-

ties at the date of the financial statements and the reported

amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting period.

Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.

Reclassifications of certain prior year balances have been made

to conform to the current year’s financial statement presentation.

In Fiscal Year 2010, Federal Pell Grant revenue is classified in the

amount of $40,139,000 from operating revenue to nonoperating

revenue as a result of additional guidance provided by the GASB.

A similar reclassification, in the amount of $24,131,000 was made

to the Fiscal Year 2009 financial statements.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT

Effective July 1, 2009, the University adopted the provisions of

GASB No. 51 “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intangible

Assets.” As substantially all patents held by the University are used

for revenue producing activities, such patents are not reported as

intangible assets in the accompanying statement of net assets.

Therefore, the adoption of this standard did not have a material

effect on the basic financial statements.

NOTE 2—CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The University’s and DPCU cash and cash equivalents are detailed

in Table 2, Cash and Cash Equivalents.

Table 2. Cash and Cash Equivalents (in thousands)

2010 2009

University

Cash on hand (petty cash and change funds) $ 328 323

Deposits with U.S. financial institutions 44,037 55,623

Deposits with foreign financial institutions 117 112

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents–University $ 44,482 56,058

Discretely Presented Component Units

Deposits with U.S. financial institutions $ 34,321 37,489

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents–DPCU $ 34,321 37,489
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CUSTODIAL CREDIT RISK

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of

the failure of the counterparty, the University will not be able to

recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are

in the possession of an outside party. Therefore, exposure arises if

the securities are uninsured, not registered in the University’s name,

and are held by either the counterparty to the investment purchase

or the counterparty’s trust department or agent but not in the

University’s name. Open-ended mutual funds and certain other

investments are not subject to custodial risk because ownership of

the investment is not evidenced by a security. None of the

University’s investments are subject to custodial risk. The DPCU

does not have a policy concerning custodial credit risk.

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a

bank failure, the University’s deposits may not be returned to it. To

manage custodial credit risk, deposits with U.S. and foreign finan-

cial institutions are made in accordance with University and State

policy, including the Public Deposit Protection Act (PDPA). PDPA

requires all eligible depositories holding public deposits to pledge

designated eligible collateral having market value equal to at least

102 percent of the deposits exceeding those amounts insured by

federal depository insurance. Deposits collateralized under the

PDPA are considered to be collateralized with securities held by the

pledging institution in the University’s name. Deposits with foreign

financial institutions are not PDPA-eligible deposits and thus are

exposed to custodial credit risk and require separate authorization as

depositories by the State. During the years ended June 30, 2010

and 2009, all deposits with foreign financial institutions were

authorized. Of the University’s total cash and cash equivalents,

approximately $117,000 and $112,000 related to deposits in for-

eign institutions are subject to custodial credit risk at June 30, 2010

and 2009, respectively. Custodial credit risk information is not

available for the DPCU.

NOTE 3—INVESTMENTS

The University’s investments generally include direct obligations of

the U.S. Government and its agencies, commercial paper, corporate

bonds, asset-backed securities, mortgage-backed securities, money

market funds, commingled and mutual funds, repurchase agree-

ments, guaranteed investment contracts, and equities. DPCU

investments are similar to the University’s but also include alterna-

tive non-equity securities. Endowments are pooled to the extent

possible under gift agreements. The CU Foundation manages cer-

tain of these endowments for the University in accordance with

their investment policy. Details of investments by type for both the

University and DPCU are included in table 3.1, Investments.

To the extent permitted, and excluding the University’s blended

entities, the University pools cash balances for investment purposes.

An investment policy statement approved by the Regents directs

the treasurer of the University to meet the following investment

objectives:

• liquidity for daily operations,

• protection of the nominal value of assets, and

• generation of distributable earnings at a level commensurate with

the time horizon of the investments.

For financial statement purposes, investment income (loss) is

reported on a total return basis and is allocated among operational

units based on average daily balances, using amortized costs.

Average daily balances approximated $1,037,420,000 and

$937,257,000 for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respec-

tively. The total return on this pool was positive 9.2 percent and

negative 6.2 percent for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009,

respectively.

Table 3.1. Investments (in thousands)

Investment Type 2010 2009

University

U.S. government and agency securities $ 265,400 139,644

Municipal bonds 3,842 643

Corporate equity securities 85,954 29,396

Corporate bonds and commercial paper 219,659 181,899

Repurchase agreements 15,458 112,834

Asset-backed securities 119,962 112,949

Open-ended mutual funds 616,905 582,351

Alternative non-equity securities:

Real estate 11,884 9,969

Private equity 38,741 34,764

Hedge fund 35,537 27,508

Absolute return fund 17,224 23,289

Venture capital 10,657 8,896

Oil and gas 5,843 7,596

Other 4,603 662

Total Investments–University $1,451,669 1,272,400

Discretely Presented Component Units

Cash equivalents $ 48,859 13,101

Equity securities:

Domestic 129,085 131,539

International 154,033 138,332

Fixed-income securities 177,197 165,880

Alternative non-equity securities:

Real estate 36,355 22,991

Private equity 160,582 140,923

Hedge funds 53,312 155,920

Absolute return funds 106,670 –

Venture capital 32,628 24,191

Oil and gas 25,486 31,499

Other 4,847 1,504

Guaranteed investment contracts 6,170 6,567

Total Investments–DPCU $ 935,224 832,447
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Table 3.2. Debt Investments and Interest Rate Risk (amounts in thousands and years)

Investment Type 2010 2010 2009 2009

Amount Duration Amount Duration

University

U.S. government and agency securities $ 244,937 3.18 111,306 5.64

Municipal bonds 3,842 10.98 643 11.24

Corporate bonds 125,444 4.84 89,384 4.65

Asset-backed securities:

Fixed-rate securities 102,544 – 135,172 –

Variable-rate securities 37,963 – 30,657 –

Collateralized mortgage obligations 13,951 – 7,005 –

Total asset-backed securities 154,458 2.59 172,834 2.58

Bond mutual funds 104,798 1.53 32,748 2.64

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Amount Maturity Amount Maturity

U.S. government and agency securities–UPI $ 19,276 5.36 1,945 4.19

Federal agency paper–UPI – – 22,231 2.45

Corporate bonds–UPI 78,371 3.29 78,730 3.46

Commercial paper–UPI 13,496 0.19 – –

Money market mutual funds–UPI 79 – – –

Asset-backed securities–UPI 992 5.23 1 1.00

Total Debt Investments–University $ 745,693 509,822

Amount Duration Amount Duration

Discretely Presented Component Units

U.S. government agencies $ 101,920 4.81 53,020 7.47

Municipal bonds 620 0.35 – –

Corporate bonds 6,930 3.08 – –

Commercial paper 11,660 0.02 – –

Repurchase agreements 11,760 0.02 – –

Asset-backed securities 6,930 1.43 – –

Bond mutual funds – – 27,080 5.07

Money market mutual funds – – 12,750 0.13

Total Debt Investments–DPCU $ 139,820 92,850

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in the market rate of inter-

est will adversely affect the value of an investment. Interest rate risk

only applies to debt investments. The University, except for UPI,

manages interest rate risk in its investment portfolios by managing

the duration, the maximum maturity, or both. University invest-

ment policies establish duration and maturity guidelines for each

portfolio. The duration method uses the present value of cash flows,

weighted for those cash flows as a percentage of the investment’s full

price. UPI manages interest rate risk using weighted average maturi-

ty. Weighted average maturity is a measure of the time to maturity

in years that has been weighted to reflect the dollar size of the indi-

vidual investment within an investment type. The University’s

investment policy mitigates interest rate risk through the use of

maturity limits for each of the investment segment pools. The

DPCU does not have a policy concerning interest rate risk.

A summary of the fair value of the University’s debt investments

and interest rate risk as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 is shown in

Table 3.2, Debt Investments and Interest Rate Risk.

As disclosed in Table 3.2, Debt Investments and Interest Rate Risk,

the University has investments in asset-backed securities. The secu-

rities consist mainly of mortgages, home equity loans, student

loans, automobile loans, equipment trusts, and credit card receiv-

ables. These securities are based on cash flows from principal and

interest payments on the underlying securities. An asset-backed

security has repayments that are expected to significantly vary with

interest rate changes. The variance may present itself in terms of

variable repayment amounts and uncertain early or extended

repayments.

CREDIT QUALITY RISK

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an

investment will not fulfill its obligations. Credit risk only applies to

debt investments. This risk is assessed by national rating agencies,

which assign a credit quality rating for many investments. The

University’s investment policies for the Treasury pool do not permit

investments in debt securities that are below investment grade at

the time the security is purchased. University policy allows no



Table 3.3. Debt Investments and Credit Quality Risk

2010 2009

Unrated Rated Unrated Rated

Fair Value Fair Value % of Rated Value Fair Value Fair Value % of Rated Value

Investment Type (in thousands) (in thousands) by Credit Rating (in thousands) (in thousands) by Credit Rating

University

U.S. government and agency

securities $ 57,101 113,725 98% Aaa $ 14,825 25,322 98% Aaa

2% Aa

Municipal bonds 59 3,783 6% AAA 99 544 62% Aa

50% Aa 38% A

44% A

Corporate bonds 4,047 202,082 8% Aaa 4,803 176,817 17% Aaa

31% Aa/AA 28% Aa

42% A 36% A

19% Baa/Ba/B 17% BBB/Baa

0% Caa/Ca/C 2% BB/B/Caa

Repurchase agreements 15,458 – 36,783 100% AAA

Asset-backed securities 41,817 78,144 72% AAA 110,434 62,400 67% AAA

9% Aa/A 12% Aa/A

12% Baa/Ba/B 16% Baa/Ba/B

7% Caa/Ca 5% Caa/Ca

Bond mutual funds 105,628 – – 32,748 – –

Commercial paper – 13,496 100% A – – –

Money market mutual funds 75,450 229,896 100% Aaa 55,186 265,767 100% Aaa

Total Debt Investments–University $ 299,560 641,126 218,095 567,633

Discretely Presented Component Units

U.S. government agencies $ – 101,920 100% AAA – 53,020 100% AAA

Municipal bonds – 620 100% A – – –

Corporate bonds 6,930 64% AAA – – –

16% Aa/A

20% Baa/Ba/B

Commercial paper – 11,660 100% AA+ – – –

Repurchase agreements – 11,760 100% AA+ – – –

Asset-backed securities – 6,930 96% AAA – – –

2% Aa/A

2% <B

Bond mutual funds – – – 27,080 – –

Guaranteed investment contracts – 5,165 100% AA+/Aa2 – 5,165 100% AA+/Aa2

Money market mutual funds – 1,006 100% AAAm/Aaa – 13,615 97%AAA

3% AA

Total Debt Investments–DPCU $ – 145,991 27,080 71,800

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to magni-

tude of an entity’s investment in a single issuer other than the

federal government. At June 30, 2010, 7 percent of the University’s

investments are in Fannie Mae (4 percent in 2009). The

University’s policy is that exposure of the portfolio to any one

issuer, other than securities of the U.S. government or agencies, or

government-sponsored corporations, shall not exceed 10 percent of

the market value of the fixed income portfolio.
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more than 20 percent of investments to be rated below A

(Standard and Poor’s) or A3 (Moody’s). There are two other invest-

ment policies tailored to non-pooled investments. Those policies

do not restrict investments to a particular credit quality standard.

Credit quality ratings are not required for obligations of the U.S.

Government or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U.S.

Government. The DPCU do not have a policy concerning credit

quality risk. A summary of the University’s debt investments and

credit quality risk as of June 30, 2010, and 2009 is shown in Table

3.3, Debt Investments and Credit Quality Risk.



39

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2010 and 2009

Table 3.4. DPCU Investments Held under
Split-interest Agreements (in thousands)

Type 2010 2009

Charitable remainder trusts $ 53,276 51,131

Charitable gift annuities and pooled

income funds 294 275

Total Investments Held under

Split-interest Agreements $ 53,570 51,406

SECURITY LENDING

The University treasurer, under the authority granted by the

Regents, enters into an agreement with the trust department of its

custodial bank to lend its fixed-income and equity securities to cer-

tain qualified borrowers. Loans can be terminated on demand by

either the University or the borrowers. The loans consist of two

types: term and open. A term loan is for a fixed number of days

while an open loan may be renewed by both parties daily.

The custodian, acting as lending agent, loaned the University’s

securities for collateral of 102 percent to broker-dealers and other

entities (borrowers) with a simultaneous agreement to return the

collateral for the same security in the future. Acceptable forms of

collateral are cash, irrevocable standby letters of credit, and obliga-

tions issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government or its agencies.

If the fair value of a loaned security increases, the borrower is

required to deliver additional collateral to the custodian to protect

the University. For both term and open loans collateralized by cash

from the borrower, the collateral is invested in high-quality, U.S.

dollar-denominated, short-term money market instruments that

can have fixed, variable, or floating rates of interest. Collateral is

invested in diversified instruments to provide adequate liquidity

and to avoid concentration by issuer or industry except that no

concentration limits are set for obligations of the U.S. Government

or its agencies. The University does not have the ability to pledge

or sell securities under a security lending agreement unless the bor-

rower defaults. As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the University had

approximately $0 and $88,456,000 securities on loan, respectively.

There is no credit risk associated with these agreements.

The custodian provides indemnification to protect against a bor-

rower’s failure to perform or a borrower’s default on a loan. There

were no violations of legal or contractual provisions and no bor-

rower or custodian has defaulted.

SPLIT-INTEREST AGREEMENTS

Assets held by the DPCU under split-interest agreements are

included in investments and consisted of the following as of June

30, 2010 and 2009, as shown in Table 3.4, DPCU Investments

Held under Split-interest Agreements.



Table 4.2. UPI Concentration of Credit Risk

Category 2010 2009

Managed care 50.0% 53.6%

Medicare 13.9 10.9

Medicaid 20.1 17.3

Other third-party payers 9.3 11.7

Self-pay 6.7 6.5

Total 100.0% 100.0%

NOTE 4 – ACCOUNTS, CONTRIBUTIONS,

AND LOANS RECEIVABLE

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO
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Table 4.1. Accounts, Contributions, and Loans Receivable (in thousands)

2010

Gross Net Net Current
Type of Receivable Receivables Allowance Receivables Portion

University

Student accounts $ 35,600 13,208 22,392 22,390

Federal government 57,234 – 57,234 57,234

Other governments 26,689 – 26,689 26,689

Private sponsors 31,156 12 31,144 31,144

Patient accounts 52,260 5,743 46,517 46,517

DPCU 10,538 – 10,538 10,538

Interest 3,404 – 3,404 3,404

Other 16,316 1,857 14,459 13,399

Total accounts receivable 233,197 20,820 212,377 211,315

Student loans 35,188 2,961 32,227 300

Total Receivable–University $ 268,385 23,781 244,604 211,615

Discretely Presented Component Units

Contributions * $ 297,326 248,849 48,477 16,292

Other 4,174 – 4,174 285

Total Receivable–DPCU $ 301,500 248,849 52,651 16,577

2009

Gross Net Net Current
Type of Receivable Receivables Allowance Receivables Portion

University

Student accounts $ 34,653 12,721 21,932 21,930

Federal government 43,012 – 43,012 43,012

Other governments 26,737 – 26,737 26,737

Private sponsors 26,071 – 26,071 26,071

Patient accounts 49,025 5,762 43,263 43,263

DPCU 8,858 – 8,858 8,858

Interest 2,577 – 2,577 2,577

Other 16,563 1,365 15,198 14,657

Total accounts receivable 207,496 19,848 187,648 187,105

Student loans 35,343 2,820 32,523 –

Total Receivable–University $ 242,839 22,668 220,171 187,105

Discretely Presented Component Units

Contributions * $ 301,574 250,528 51,046 23,938

Other 4,555 – 4,555 700

Total Receivable–DPCU $ 306,129 250,528 55,601 24,638

*The allowance on the contributions receivable is comprised of uncollectible and unamortized discounts of $247,324,000 and $1,525,000, as of June 30, 2010, respec-

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

UPI grants credit without collateral to its patients. The mix of

gross receivables from patients and third-party payers as of June 30,

2010 and 2009 is detailed in Table 4.2, UPI Concentration of

Credit Risk.
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NOTE 5–CAPITAL ASSETS

Table 5, Capital Assets, presents changes in capital assets and accu-

mulated depreciation by major asset category for the years ended

June 30, 2010 and 2009.

The total interest expense related to capital asset debt incurred by

the University during the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009

approximated $48,944,000 and $40,536,000, respectively. Of this

amount, approximately $10,322,000 and $3,615,000, respectively,

was capitalized as part of the value of construction in progress.

The University had insurance recoveries of $2,592,000 and

$2,242,000 in the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 respective-

ly, which are included in other nonoperating revenues.

Table 5. Capital Assets (in thousands)

Category Balance 2009 Additions Retirement Transfers Balance 2010

University

Nondepreciable capital assets

Land $ 56,096 – – 1,273 57,369

Construction in progress 173,099 263,507 – (129,422) 307,184

Collections 11,576 1,155 26 – 12,705

Total nondepreciable capital assets 240,771 264,662 26 (128,149) 377,258

Depreciable capital assets

Buildings 2,273,286 3,744 300 111,794 2,388,524

Improvements other than buildings 154,706 27 51 16,364 171,046

Equipment 431,904 53,312 25,853 (9) 459,354

Library and other collections 280,165 15,691 4,732 – 291,124

Total depreciable capital assets 3,140,061 72,774 30,936 128,149 3,310,048

Less accumulated depreciation

Buildings 693,525 70,452 243 – 763,734

Improvements other than buildings 64,631 7,124 45 – 71,710

Equipment 317,390 33,707 23,186 – 327,911

Library and other collections 183,670 13,030 4,732 – 191,968

Total accumulated depreciation 1,259,216 124,313 28,206 – 1,355,323

Net depreciable capital assets 1,880,845 (51,539) 2,730 128,149 1,954,725

Total Net Capital Assets–University $ 2,121,616 213,123 2,756 – 2,331,983

Discretely Presented Component Units

Nondepreciable capital assets

Land $ 16,407 20 400 – 16,027

Construction in progress 125 468 – (319) 274

Total nondepreciable capital assets 16,532 488 400 (319) 16,301

Depreciable capital assets

Buildings 58,948 314 3,735 284 55,811

Improvements other than buildings 4,128 3 113 (391) 3,627

Equipment 6,626 34 21 426 7,065

Total depreciable capital assets 69,702 351 3,869 319 66,503

Less accumulated depreciation

Buildings 8,986 2,167 314 – 10,839

Improvements other than buildings 847 322 108 – 1,061

Equipment 4,343 625 19 – 4,949

Total accumulated depreciation 14,176 3,114 441 – 16,849

Net depreciable capital assets 55,526 (2,763) 3,428 319 49,654

Total Net Capital Assets–DPCU $ 72,058 (2,275) 3,828 – 65,955



Table 5. Capital Assets (continued). (in thousands)

Category Balance 2008 Additions Retirement Transfers Balance 2009

University

Nondepreciable capital assets

Land $ 53,525 3,326 755 – 56,096

Construction in progress 98,159 191,825 – (116,885) 173,099

Collections 9,176 2,400 – – 11,576

Total nondepreciable capital assets 160,860 197,551 755 (116,885) 240,771

Depreciable capital assets

Buildings 2,179,765 77 15,638 109,082 2,273,286

Improvements other than buildings 142,252 5,993 673 7,134 154,706

Equipment 413,715 34,512 16,992 669 431,904

Library and other collections 266,409 15,848 2,092 – 280,165

Total depreciable capital assets 3,002,141 56,430 35,395 116,885 3,140,061

Less accumulated depreciation

Buildings 629,795 66,670 2,940 – 693,525

Improvements other than buildings 59,614 5,299 282 – 64,631

Equipment 292,825 38,575 14,010 – 317,390

Library and other collections 173,149 12,613 2,092 – 183,670

Total accumulated depreciation 1,155,383 123,157 19,324 – 1,259,216

Net depreciable capital assets 1,846,758 (66,727) 16,071 116,885 1,880,845

Total Net Capital Assets–University $ 2,007,618 130,824 16,826 – 2,121,616

Discretely Presented Component Units

Nondepreciable capital assets

Land $ 16,424 8 25 – 16,407

Construction in progress 104 21 – – 125

Total nondepreciable capital assets 16,528 29 25 – 16,532

Depreciable capital assets

Buildings 58,093 989 134 – 58,948

Improvements other than buildings 4,004 134 10 – 4,128

Equipment 5,959 797 130 – 6,626

Total depreciable capital assets 68,056 1,920 274 – 69,702

Less accumulated depreciation

Buildings 6,840 2,183 37 – 8,986

Improvements other than buildings 549 305 7 – 847

Equipment 3,898 563 118 – 4,343

Total accumulated depreciation 11,287 3,051 162 – 14,176

Net depreciable capital assets 56,769 (1,131) 112 – 55,526

Total Net Capital Assets–DPCU $ 73,297 (1,102) 137 – 72,058
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NOTE 7–COMPENSATED ABSENCES AND

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Table 7, Compensated Absences and Other Postemployment

Benefits, presents changes in compensated absences and other

postemployment benefits other than pension benefits for the

years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009.

Table 6.1. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
(in thousands)

Type 2010 2009

University

Accounts payable–vendors $ 69,945 70,454

Accounts payable–DPCU 52 340

Accrued salaries and benefits 166,246 157,746

Accrued interest payable 2,599 1,996

Other accrued expenses 1,323 1,375

Total Accounts Payable and Accrued

Expenses–University $ 240,165 231,911

Discretely Presented Component Units

Accounts payable–vendors $ 2,708 2,893

Accounts payable–University (excludes

custodial funds) 3,680 2,656

Total Accounts Payable–DPCU $ 6,388 5,549

Table 6.2. University Operating Leases Minimum Lease
Obligations (in thousands)

Years Ending June 30 Minimum Lease Obligation

2011 $ 7,951

2012 5,401

2013 4,100

2014 3,308

2015 2,843

2016–2020 7,516

2021–2025 1,222

2026–2030 734

Total Operating Lease Obligations $ 33,075

NOTE 6–ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND

ACCRUED EXPENSES

Table 6.1, Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses, details the

accounts payable and accrued expenses as of June 30, 2010 and

2009 by type.

Table 7. Compensated Absences and Other
Postemployment Benefits (in thousands)

2010 2009

Compensated Absences

Beginning of the year $ 114,261 103,818

Additions 100,692 79,633

Adjustments/reduction (91,340) (69,190)

End of the year 123,613 114,261

Current compensated absences 7,527 6,143

Postemployment Benefits

Beginning of the year 22,242 11,456

Annual required contribution 21,853 21,853

Interest on net obligation 1,112 572

Adjustment to annual required

contribution (1,434) (738)

Annual OPEB cost (expense) 43,773 33,143

Contributions made during the year (10,751) (10,901)

End of the year 33,022 22,242

Current postemployment benefits 10,115 8,865

Total Compensated Absences and

Other Postemployment Benefits $ 156,635 136,503

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO
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OPERATING LEASES

The University leases various buildings and equipment under oper-

ating lease rental agreements. Operating leases do not give rise to

property rights or meet other capital lease criteria and, therefore,

the related assets and liabilities are not recorded in the accompany-

ing financial statements. For the years ended June 30, 2010 and

2009, total rental expense under these agreements approximated

$6,222,000 and $7,688,000 for the University, respectively. Future

minimum payments for these operating leases are shown in Table

6.2, University Operating Leases Minimum Lease Obligations.

POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN
PENSION BENEFITS

During the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 approximately

3,800 and 3,700 retirees respectively met the eligibility require-

ments and are receiving benefits under the University’s single-

employer postemployment benefit (non-pension) program. This

program was established by the Regents who have the authority to

amend the program provisions. Under this program, the University

subsidizes a portion of healthcare and life insurance premiums on a

pay-as-you-go basis. Costs approximated $8,865,000 and

$7,348,000 during the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009,

respectively. A separately issued report is not available as the plan is

unfunded and therefore no trust exists.

Funded Status and Funding Progress. As of July 1, 2008,

the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 0 percent

funded. For the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, the actuarial

accrued liability for benefits was $196,715,000, the actuarial

value of assets were $0, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued

liability (UAAL) of $196,715,000. The covered payroll (annual

payroll of active employees covered by the program) was

$898,899,000, and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll

was 21.88 percent.



44

After the PERA subsidy, the benefit recipient pays the balance of

the premium through an automatic deduction from the monthly

retirement benefit. Monthly premium costs for participants depend

on the health care plan selected, the PERA subsidy amount,

Medicare eligibility, and the number of persons covered. Effective

July 1, 2000, the maximum monthly subsidy is $230 per month

for benefit recipients who are under 65 years of age and who are

not entitled to Medicare and $115 per month for benefit recipients

who are 65 years of age or older or who are under 65 years of age

and entitled to Medicare. The maximum subsidy is based on the

recipient having 20 years of service credit and is subject to reduc-

tion by 5 percent for each year less than 20 years.

The Health Care Trust Fund is maintained by an employer’s contri-

bution (see Note 15, PERA Defined Benefit Pension Plan).

The Health Care Trust Fund offers two general types of plans:

fully-insured plans offered through health care organizations and

self-insured plans administered for PERA by third party vendors.

As of December 31, 2009, there were 46,985 enrolled participants

including spouses and dependents, from all contributors to the

plan. At December 31, 2009, the Health Care Trust Fund had an

unfunded actuarial accrued liability of $1.50 billion, a funded ratio

of 14.8 percent and a 53-year amortization period.

NOTE 8–DEFERRED REVENUE

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the types and amounts of deferred

revenue are shown in Table 8, Deferred Revenue.

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing program involve estimates of

the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probabil-

ity of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include

assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the health-

care cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status

of the program and the annual required contributions of the

employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are com-

pared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the

future.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. Projections of benefits

for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive pro-

gram (the program as understood by the employer and the pro-

gram members) and include the types of benefits provided at the

time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of bene-

fit costs between the employer and program members to that

point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include tech-

niques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatili-

ty in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets,

consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.

In the July 1, 2007, and July 1, 2008, actuarial valuation, the unit

credit actuarial cost method was used. The healthcare trend

assumption reflects healthcare cost inflation expected to impact the

plan based on forecast information in published papers from indus-

try experts (actuaries, health economists, etc.). This research sug-

gests a 9.0 percent long term average increase for all healthcare

benefits, trending down to an ultimate 5.0 percent increase for

2014 and later years. Expected medical claims are assumed to

increase 2.0 percent, on average, as participant’s age. It was

assumed that all members would be entitled to the maximum life

insurance benefit amount; therefore no salary increase rate is

assumed. The UAAL is being amortized as a level percentage of

projected payroll on an open basis. The remaining amortization

period at June 30, 2010 was 27 years.

PERA POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE AND
LIFE INSURANCE BENEFITS

The PERA Health Care Program began covering benefit recipients

and qualified dependents on July 1, 1986. This benefit was devel-

oped after legislation in 1985 established the PERACare and the

Health Care Fund. This benefit was developed after legislation in

1985 established the Program and the Health Care Fund; the pro-

gram was converted to a trust fund in 1999. The plan is a cost-

sharing multiple-employer plan under which PERA subsidizes a

portion of the monthly premium for health care coverage. The

benefits and employer contributions are established in statute and

may be amended by the General Assembly. PERA includes the

Health Care Trust Fund in its Comprehensive Annual Financial

Report, which may be obtained by writing PERA at P.O. Box

5800, Denver, Colorado 80217, by calling PERA at 1-800-759-

PERA (7372), or by visiting http://www.copera.org.

Table 8. Deferred Revenue (in thousands)

2010 2009

Current Current

Type Total Portion Total Portion

University

Tuition and fees $ 20,488 20,488 19,304 19,304

Auxiliary enterprises 20,431 15,056 19,793 14,196

Grants and contracts 70,991 70,991 57,683 57,683

Miscellaneous 9,616 9,616 8,610 8,610

Total Deferred Revenue–

University $ 121,526 116,151 105,390 99,793

Discretely Presented Component Units

Miscellaneous $ 1,330 1,330 1,144 1,144

Total Deferred Revenue–

DPCU $ 1,330 1,330 1,144 1,144
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NOTE 9–BONDS, LEASES, AND NOTES

PAYABLE

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the categories of long-term obliga-

tions are summarized in Table 9.1, Bonds, Leases, and Notes

Payable.

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2009 and 2008
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Table 9.1. Bonds, Leases, and Notes Payable (in thousands)

Type Interest Rates Final Maturity Balance 2010 Balance 2009

University

Revenue Bonds

Enterprise System (including premium of $36,268 in 2010

and $30,016 in 2009 and deferred loss of $8,510 in 2010

and $7,353 in 2009) 2.25%–5.75% 6/1/39 $ 1,080,828 891,793

UPI Variable Demand Bonds 0.8%* 1/1/25 17,920 18,435

Total Revenue Bonds 1,098,748 910,228

Other Capital Lease Obligations

Central Utility Plant 6.00% 12/31/22 37,305 39,370

Other Lease Obligations 2.87–13.95% Various 16,700 17,732

Total Other Capital Lease Obligations 54,005 57,102

Total Bonds, Leases, and Notes Payable–University $ 1,152,753 967,330

* Interest on the UPI Variable Rate Demand Bonds is set at an adjustable rate as discussed below under Revenue Bonds. The rates reflected in this table are as of
June 30, 2010.

Discretely Presented Component Units

Revenue Bonds

Student Housing Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2008 4.0–5.5% 6/1/38 $ 53,056 53,056

Total Revenue Bonds 53,056 53,056

Capital Leases 7.50% 9/1/14 3,343 3,867

Notes Payable 6.37–6.6%** 9/10/16 15,643 18,468

Total Bonds, Leases, and Notes Payable–DPCU $ 72,042 75,391

**Variable interest rate of 1-month LIBOR plus 2.156 adjusted monthly



Table 9.2. Changes in Bonds, Leases, and Notes Payable (in thousands)

Balance Balance Current

Type 2009 Additions Retirements 2010 Portion

University

Revenue Bonds $ 887,565 239,365 55,940 1,070,990 34,915

Plus unamortized premiums 30,016 9,472 3,220 36,268 3,184

Less deferred loss 7,353 2,098 941 8,510 –

Net Revenue Bonds 910,228 246,739 58,219 1,098,748 38,099

Capital Leases 57,102 162 3,259 54,005 3,329

Total Bonds, Leases, and Notes Payable–University $ 967,330 246,901 61,478 1,152,753 41,428

Discretely Presented Component Units

Revenue Bonds $ 54,055 – – 54,055 –

Less unamortized discount 999 – – 999 –

Net Revenue Bonds 53,056 – – 53,056 –

Capital Leases 3,867 – 524 3,343 598

Notes Payable 18,468 – 2,825 15,643 199

Total Bonds, Leases, and Notes Payable–DPCU $ 75,391 – 3,349 72,042 797

Balance Balance Current

Type 2008 Additions Retirements 2009 Portion

University

Revenue Bonds $ 748,725 165,635 26,795 887,565 29,115

Plus unamortized premiums 28,405 4,277 2,666 30,016 2,244

Less deferred loss 8,309 – 956 7,353 –

Net Revenue Bonds 768,821 169,912 28,505 910,228 31,359

Capital Leases 43,385 17,054 3,337 57,102 3,253

Notes Payable 48 – 48 – –

Total Bonds, Leases, and Notes Payable–University $ 812,254 186,966 31,890 967,330 34,612

Discretely Presented Component Units

Revenue Bonds $ 50,365 54,055 50,365 54,055 –

Less unamortized discount – 999 – 999 –

Net Revenue Bonds 50,365 53,056 50,365 53,056 –

Capital Leases 4,205 – 338 3,867 506

Notes Payable 18,910 – 442 18,468 442

Total Bonds, Leases, and Notes Payable–DPCU $ 73,480 53,056 51,145 75,391 948

REVENUE BONDS

A general description of each revenue bond issue, original issuance

amount, and the amount outstanding as of June 30, 2010 and

2009 is detailed in Table 9.3, Revenue Bonds Detail.

Table 9.2, Changes in Bonds, Leases, and Notes Payable, presents

changes in bonds, leases, and notes payable for the years ended

June 30, 2010 and 2009.
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Table 9.3. Revenue Bonds Detail (in thousands)

Original Issuance Outstanding Balance Outstanding Balance

Issuance Description Amount 2010 2009

University
Enterprise System Revenue Bonds:
Refunding Series 1995A–
Used to refund all of the Refunding Series 1986, 1989, 1990, and 1992B $ 32,940 3,995 4,690

Refunding and Improvement Series 1997–
Used to refund all of the Series 1986 and fund capital improvements at CU-Boulder and UCCS 12,760 – 875

Refunding Series 2001A–
Used to refund all of the Student Recreation Center and Refunding Series 1989, Auxiliary
Facilities System Refunding Series 1992A, Research Building Revolving Fund (RBRF)
Series 1989 and RBRF Series 1992, and a portion of the Enterprise System Tax Exempt
Commercial Paper 34,840 1,007 7,044

Refunding and Improvement Series 2001B–
Used to refund all of the Tax Exempt Commercial Paper and fund capital
improvements at CU-Boulder (includes premium) 51,320 3,994 5,880

Series 2002A–
Used to fund capital improvements at UC Denver (includes premium) 101,875 10,024 33,311

Series 2002B–
Used to fund capital improvements at CU-Boulder (includes premium) 40,055 5,933 7,270

Series 2003A–
Used to fund capital improvements at CU-Boulder, UCCS, and UC Denver 64,260 52,660 54,772

Series 2004–
Used to fund capital improvements at CU-Boulder, UCCS, and UC Denver 24,360 19,760 20,675

Series 2005A–
Used to fund capital improvements at CU-Boulder, UCCS, UC Denver, and
refund 1995 RBRF Bonds (includes premium) 230,025 216,092 223,647

Series 2005B–
Used to fund capital improvements at UCCS and UC Denver 25,225 23,548 24,110

Series 2006A–
Used to fund capital improvements at CU-Boulder, UCCS, and UC Denver 101,425 98,142 100,800

Refunding Series 2007A–
Used to refund all of the revenue bond Refunding Series 1999A and Certificates of
Participation Series 2003A and 2003B and a portion of revenue bond Refunding
Series 1995A, Refunding and Improvement Series 2001B, Series 2002A, and 2002B 184,180 172,769 176,134

Series 2007B–
Used to fund acquisition and capital improvements at CU-Boulder, Williams Village 63,875 61,345 62,991

Series 2009A–
Used to finance the acquisition, renovation, and equipping of certain facilities of
CU-Boulder, UCCS, and UC Denver 165,635 165,492 169,594

Series 2009B-1–
Used to construct the CU-Boulder Systems Biotechnology Building, basketball and
volleyball practice facility, renovate housing facilities, and construct UC Denver
Pharmaceutical Research Center 76,725 80,987 –

Series 2009B-2–
Build America Bonds used to construct the CU-Boulder Systems Biotechnology Building,
basketball and volleyball practice facility, renovate housing facilities, and
construct UC Denver Pharmaceutical Research Center 138,130 138,130 –

Series 2009C–
Used to refund Enterprise System Refund Series 1997, Enterprise System
Revenue Refund Bonds Series 2001A for years 2012 through 2016 and 2026,
and Enterprise System Revenue Bonds Series 2002A for years 2014 through 2018 24,510 26,950 –

Total Enterprise System Revenue Bonds 1,080,828 891,793
Series 2002–UPI Variable Rate Demand Bonds–

Used to finance construction of UPI’s administrative office building 20,500 17,920 18,435

Total Revenue Bonds 1,098,748 910,228
Less premium 36,268 30,016
Plus deferred loss 8,510 7,353

Total Outstanding Revenue Bond Principal–University $ 1,070,990 887,565

Discretely Presented Component Units
Student Housing Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2008–
Used to refund Series 2005, fund a portion of debt service reserve, and pay issuance costs $ 53,056 53,056 53,056

Plus unamortized discount 999 999

Total Outstanding Revenue Bond Principal–DPCU $ 54,055 54,055



The University’s revenue bonds are payable semiannually, have seri-

al maturities, contain sinking fund requirements, and contain

optional redemption provisions. The optional redemption provi-

sions allow the University to redeem, at various dates, portions of

the outstanding revenue bonds at prices varying from 100 to 101

percent of the principal amount of the revenue bonds redeemed.

The Enterprise System Revenue Bonds are secured by a pledge of

all net revenues of certain auxiliary enterprise facilities. As of June

30, 2010 and 2009, total net pledged revenues approximate

$264,521,000 and $238,502,000, respectively.

All University revenue bonds are special limited obligations of the

Regents and are payable solely from the pledged revenues (or the

net income of the facilities as defined in the bond resolution). The

revenue bonds are not secured by any encumbrance, mortgage, or

other pledge of property, except pledged revenues, and do not con-

stitute general obligations of the Regents.

The University revenue bonds contain provisions to establish and

maintain reasonable fees, rates, and other charges to ensure gross

revenues are sufficient for debt service coverage. The University is

also required to comply with various other covenants while the

bonds are outstanding. These covenants, among other things,

restrict the disposition of certain assets, require the Regents to

maintain adequate insurance, and require the Regents to continue

to operate the underlying programs. Management believes the

University has met all debt service coverage ratios and has com-

plied with all bond covenants.

UPI variable rate demand bonds, Series 2002, were issued on

behalf of UPI by the Fitzsimons Redevelopment Authority. The

bonds bear interest at a variable municipal bond interest rate that

is reset weekly. In addition, UPI has entered into a five-year renew-

able letter of credit agreement with Allied Irish Bank allowing the

bonds to be remarked using Allied Irish Bank’s national credit rat-

ing. The letter of credit is renewable upon request and currently

expires December 2012. UPI is required to maintain restricted

cash and readily marketable securities as of each June 30 and

December 31 after the date of issuance of not less than

$28,000,000 as a reasonable working capital reserve. UPI manage-

ment believes it has met all of the financial requirements.

The Colorado Educational and Cultural Authority (the Authority)

issued $54,055,000 of Series 2008 Student Housing Revenue

Refunding Bonds. The Authority then loaned the proceeds of the

bond to CVA to refund the Series 2005 Bonds, fund a portion of a

debt service reserve fund, and pay certain costs of issuance. In con-

nection with the issuance of the Series 2008 Bonds, CVA and

CUREF entered into a Lease Vacancy and Reimbursement

Agreement with the University under which the University has

agreed to rent or lease from CVA the number of rooms or beds

necessary to assure CVA’s ability to comply with certain financial

covenants contained in the Series 2008 bond agreements. CUREF

reimburses the University for any claims under the Lease Vacancy

and Reimbursement Agreement.

Future minimum payments for revenue bonds are detailed in Table

9.4, Revenue Bonds Future Minimum Payments.
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Table 9.4. Revenue Bonds Future Minimum Payments (in thousands)

University Discretely Presented Component Units

Years Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total

2011 $ 34,915 52,109 87,024 – 2,122 2,122

2012 38,395 50,714 89,109 – 2,122 2,122

2013 59,330 48,952 108,282 – 2,122 2,122

2014 40,900 46,874 87,774 20 2,122 2,142

2015 41,420 45,051 86,471 105 2,254 2,359

2016–2020 212,740 195,915 408,655 2,040 12,032 14,072

2021–2025 256,565 140,539 397,104 2,700 12,632 15,332

2026–2030 214,970 76,628 291,598 9,335 12,045 21,380

2031–2035 152,885 27,308 180,193 15,735 8,954 24,689

2036–2039 18,870 1,588 20,458 23,121 3,815 26,936

Total $ 1,070,990 685,678 1,756,668 53,056 60,220 113,276
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Table 9.5. Capital Leases (in thousands)

University Discretely Presented Component Units

Years Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total

2011 $ 3,329 2,817 6,146 598 348 946

2012 3,314 2,650 5,964 704 275 979

2013 3,465 2,475 5,940 824 189 1,013

2014 3,526 2,294 5,820 960 89 1,049

2015 3,671 2,110 5,781 257 7 264

2016–2020 20,011 7,519 27,530 – – –

2021–2025 13,833 2,226 16,059 – – –

2026–2029 2,856 236 3,092 – – –

Total $ 54,005 22,327 76,332 3,343 908 4,251

OTHER CAPITAL LEASES

The University has a capital lease agreement to lease purchase a

central utility plant (CUP) to deliver steam and chilled water to the

UC Denver Anschutz Medical Campus (AMC). As of June 30,

2010 and 2009, the CUP capital lease had an outstanding liability

approximating $37,305,000 and $39,370,000, respectively, with

underlying gross capitalized asset cost approximating $47,385,000

and $47,385,000, respectively. The CUP capital lease agreement

provides for biannual payments through December 2022 with an

effective interest rate of 6 percent. Beginning in 2011, the

University has the ability to purchase the CUP from the lessor in

accordance with an established purchase price schedule.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the University had an outstanding

liability for all other capital leases approximating $16,700,000 and

$17,732,000, respectively, with underlying gross capitalized asset

cost approximating $19,972,000 and $18,259,000, respectively. At

June 30, 2010 and 2009, the DPCU had an outstanding liability

for capital leases approximating $3,343,000 and $3,867,000,

respectively, with underlying gross capitalized asset cost approxi-

mating $5,750,000.

Future minimum payments for capital lease obligations are detailed

in Table 9.5, Capital Leases.

Table 9.6. Notes Payable Future Minimum Payments
(in thousands)

Discretely Presented Component Units

Years Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2011 $ 199 1,024 1,223

2012 217 1,006 1,223

2013 232 991 1,223

2014 248 975 1,223

2015 265 958 1,223

2016–2020 14,482 1,068 15,550

Total $ 15,643 6,022 21,665

NOTES PAYABLE

As of June 30, 2010, the University had no outstanding notes

payable. CUREF had two notes payable outstanding as of June 30,

2010. The two notes were for the purchase of land and buildings,

and the interest rate was 6.60 percent on the first note and 6.37

percent on the second note. Future minimum payments of the

notes payable for the DPCU are detailed in Table 9.6, Notes

Payable Future Minimum Payments.

STATE OF COLORADO CERTIFICATES OF
PARTICIPATION

On December 14, 2005, the State, acting by and through the

Regents, issued Certificates of Participation, Series 2005B with an

approximate par value of $192,625,000 and a premium of

$7,600,600. The certificates have interest rates ranging from 3.75

to 5.25 percent and mature in November 2030. Annual lease pay-

ments are made by the State and are subject to annual appropria-

tions by the Legislature. As a result, this liability is recognized by

the State and not included in the University’s financial statements.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the University had underlying gross

capitalized assets costing approximating $188,800,000.
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The certificates are secured by the buildings or equipment acquired

with the lease proceeds and any unexpended lease proceeds. The

proceeds are being used to finance the costs of acquisition, con-

struction, improvement, and equipping of seven academic build-

ings on the UC Denver AMC. The underlying capitalized assets

are contributed to the University from the State. The University

has recognized capital contributions from the State and related

capital assets of approximately $0 and $7,747,000, during the

years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

On October 23, 2008, the State issued State of Colorado Higher

Education Capital Construction Lease Purchase Financing

Program Certificates of Participation, Series 2008 with an approxi-

mate par value of $230,845,000 and a premium of $1,883,800

and a discount of $1,702,900. The certificates have interest rates

ranging from 3.0 to 5.5 percent and mature in November 2019.

Annual lease payments are made by the State and are subject to

annual appropriations by the Legislature. As a result, this liability is

recognized by the State and not included in the University’s finan-

cial statements.

The certificates are secured by the buildings or equipment acquired

with the lease proceeds and any unexpended lease proceeds. The

proceeds are being used to finance various capital projects for the

benefit of certain State-supported institutions of higher education

in Colorado, including UCCS. The underlying capitalized assets

are contributed to the University from the State. The University

has recognized capital contributions from the State and related

capital assets of approximately $12,199,000 and $1,071,000, dur-

ing the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT

Previous revenue bond issues and certificates of participation, con-

sidered to be extinguished through in-substance defeasance under

generally accepted accounting principles, are not included in the

accompanying financial statements. The amount of debt in this

category, covered by assets placed in trust to be used solely for

future payments, amounted to approximately $173,505,000 and

$150,255,000 as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The

debt issued in Fiscal Year 2010 to defease existing debt is listed in

the financial statement footnotes as the 2009C Enterprise

Refunding Bonds, with a face amount of $24,510,000. The

2009C Enterprise Refunding Bonds were used to defease debt in

the amount of $24,945,000, and the proceeds from the new debt

were placed with an escrow agent and will be used to make all

future debt service payments. At the end of Fiscal Year 2010 there

was a remaining balance of $24,340,000 on this issue. The differ-

ence between cash flows required to service the old debt was

$1,678,214 higher than the debt service required to service the

new debt. The economic gain from this transaction was

$1,422,312. The total amount of defeased debt that is outstanding

at the end of Fiscal Year 2010 is $173,505,000.

NOTE 10–OTHER LIABILITIES

Table 10.1, Other Liabilities, details other liabilities as of June 30,

2010 and 2009.

RISK FINANCING-RELATED LIABILITIES

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts;

theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions;

medical malpractice; employee occupational injuries; graduate

medical students’ health; and natural disasters. The University

finances these risks through various self-insurance programs. The

University finances cost and risks associated with employee health

benefit programs through the purchase of commercial insurance.

The University utilizes a protected self-insurance program for its

property, liability, and workers’ compensation risks. The University

has established a separate self-insurance program for the purpose of

providing professional liability coverage for UC Denver and the

Hospital Authority (Note 18). A separate self-insurance program

has also been established to provide health insurance for graduate

medical students and eligible dependents at UC Denver.

All self-insurance programs assume losses up to certain limits and

purchase a defined amount of excess insurance for losses over those

limits. These limits range from $100,000 to $1,000,000 per occur-

rence.

Reserves for unpaid claims under these programs are actuarially

reviewed and evaluated for adequacy each year and are reported on

an undiscounted basis. Settlements have not exceeded coverages for

each of the past three fiscal years. There were no significant reduc-

tions or changes in insurance coverage from the prior year.

The amount recorded as risk financing-related liabilities represents

reserves based upon the annual actuarial valuation and includes

reserves for incurred but not reported claims. Such liabilities

depend on many factors, including claims history, inflation, dam-

age awards, investment return, and changes in legal doctrine.

Accordingly, computation of the claims liabilities requires an annu-

al estimation process. Claims liabilities are reevaluated on a period-

ic basis and take into consideration recently settled claims, frequen-

cy of claims, and other relevant factors.

Changes in the balances of risk financing-related liabilities for the

years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 are presented in Table 10.2,

Risk Financing-related Liabilities.

DIRECT LENDING

The University participates in two student lending programs oper-

ated by the federal government, Direct Student Loan and the State

School as Lender. These programs enable eligible students or par-

ents to obtain a loan to pay for the student’s cost of attendance

directly through the University rather than through a private

lender. The University is responsible for handling the complete

loan process, including funds management as well as promissory

note functions.
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For the Direct Lending program, the University is not responsible

for collection of these loans or for defaults by borrowers and there-

fore these loans are not recognized as receivables in the accompa-

nying financial statements. Direct lending activity during the years

ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 was $320,088,000 and

$252,335,000, respectively.

NOTE 11–UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS

In addition to external restrictions, the University has many activi-

ties that require a certain level of reserves to be maintained.

Examples of this include working capital reserves for auxiliary

operations, internal service centers, and continuing education

activities; loss reserves for risk financing activities; and capital

reserves for planned construction efforts.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, all of the University’s unrestricted

net assets have been designated by management for the following

purposes and amounts detailed in Table 11, Designations of

Unrestricted Net Assets.
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Table 11. Designations of Unrestricted Net Assets
(in thousands)

Designation Description 2010 2009

Accounts receivable $ 129,758 111,504

Auxiliary facilities operating reserves 88,383 75,431

Capital-related activities 128,857 77,261

Faculty start-up and research initiatives 72,532 69,566

Inventories and prepaids 1,431 4,635

Investment pool 45,223 –

Regent designated endowments 21,357 20,164

Risk financing activities 28,657 27,893

Service center reserves 15,510 23,334

Technology transfer office 12,434 14,127

University Physicians, Inc. 139,202 131,123

Total Designated Unrestricted Net Assets $ 683,344 555,038

Table 10.2. Risk Financing-related Liabilities (in thousands)

Property, General Liability,

and Workers’ UC Denver Professional Graduate Medical

Compensation Liability Student Health Benefits Total

Balance 2008 $ 14,079 4,175 1,258 19,512
Fiscal Year 2009:

Claims and changes in estimates 4,040 2,830 8,693 15,563

Claim payments (6,456) (1,940) (8,347) (16,743)

Balance 2009 $ 11,663 5,065 1,604 18,332

Fiscal Year 2010:

Claims and changes in estimates 5,905 273 6,280 12,458

Claim payments (6,007) (750) (6,562) (13,319)

Balance 2010 $ 11,561 4,588 1,322 17,471
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Table 10.1. Other Liabilities (in thousands)

2010 2009

Type Total Current Portion Total Current Portion

University

Risk financing $ 17,471 7,205 18,332 7,004

Construction contract retainage 9,822 9,822 3,939 3,484

Funds held for others 14,765 14,765 15,466 15,466

Miscellaneous 5,728 5,612 7,109 6,908

Total Other Liabilities–University $ 47,786 37,404 44,846 32,862

Discretely Presented Component Units

Funds held for others $ 1,883 – 2,118 –

Total Other Liabilities–DPCU $ 1,883 – 2,118 –



NOTE 12–SPENDING LIMITATIONS

In November 1992, the Colorado voters passed Section 20, Article

X of the Colorado Constitution, commonly known as the

Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights (TABOR). TABOR contains revenue,

spending, tax, and debt limitations that apply to all local govern-

ments and the State of Colorado, including the University. In

Fiscal Year 2005, the Colorado State Legislature determined in

Section 23-5-101.7 of the Colorado Revised Statutes that an insti-

tution of higher education may be designated as an enterprise for

the purposes of TABOR so long as the institution’s governing

board retains authority to issue revenue bonds on its behalf and the

institution receives less than 10 percent of its total annual revenues

in grants as defined by TABOR. Further, so long as it is so desig-

nated as an enterprise, the institution shall not be subject to any of

the provisions of TABOR.

In July 2005, the Regents designated the University as a TABOR

enterprise pursuant to the statute. During the years ended June 30,

2010 and 2009, the University believes it has met all requirements

of TABOR enterprise status. Specifically, the Regents retain the

authority to issue revenue bonds and the amount of state grants

received by the University was 1.57 percent and 2.40 percent dur-

ing the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, as shown

in Table 12.1, TABOR Enterprise State Support Calculation.

A portion of the University is subject to revenue and expense limi-

tations imposed by the Colorado State Legislature through the

annual appropriation process. For years ended June 30, 2010 and

2009, respectively, the University’s appropriated funds included

$38,073,000 and $57,164,000 received from students that quali-

fied for stipends from the College Opportunity Fund and

$50,138,000 and $101,940,000 as fee-for-service contract revenue,

as well as certain cash funds as specified in the State’s annual

appropriations bill.

Appropriated cash funds include tuition, certain fees, and certain

other revenue sources, which are recognized in various revenue

lines, as appropriate, in the accompanying financial statements.

All other revenues and expenses reported by the University repre-

sent non-appropriated funds and are excluded from the annual

appropriations bill. Non-appropriated funds include certain grants

and contracts, gifts, indirect cost recoveries, certain auxiliary rev-

enues, and other revenue sources.

For the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, appropriated

expenses were within the authorized spending authority. Table

12.2, Appropriated Funds, details the related activities for the

years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009.
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Table 12.1. TABOR Enterprise State Support
Calculation (in thousands)

2010 2009

Capital appropriations $ 8,792 21,436

Tobacco Litigation Settlement

Appropriation 17,150 17,997

State appropriations for AMC COP

annual payments for debt service 13,142 13,126

State COP Issuance for UCCS–

Science Building 1,394 844

Total State Grants $ 40,478 53,403

Total TABOR Enterprise Revenues $ 2,583,000 2,226,000

Ratio of State Grants to Total Revenues 1.57% 2.40%

Table 12.2. Appropriated Funds (in thousands)

Description 2010 2009

Total appropriation $ 866,901 777,021

Actual appropriated revenues 820,933 806,104

Actual appropriated expenditures

and transfers 866,901 777,021

Net increase (decrease) in appropriated

net assets $ (45,968) 29,083
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NOTE 13–SCHOLARSHIP ALLOWANCES

During the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, scholarship

allowances were provided by the following funding sources in

amounts detailed in Table 13, Scholarship Allowances.

NOTE 14–HEALTH SERVICES REVENUE

Health services revenue is recorded net of contractual adjustments

approximating $492,817,000 and $432,355,000 and bad debt

expense on uncollectible patient account receivables approximating

$14,375,000 and $15,274,000 for the years ended June 30, 2010

and 2009, respectively. Charity care provided during the years

ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, for which no reimbursement was

received, measured at established rates, totaled approximately

$32,113,000 and $23,184,000, respectively.



NOTE 15–RETIREMENT PLANS AND

INSURANCE PROGRAMS

Employees of the University eligible for retirement benefits partici-

pate in one of four retirement plans. Eligible student employees

participate in a student retirement plan that is funded solely by

contributions from the student employees. The student retirement

plan is a defined contribution plan administered by a consortium

of higher educational institutions in the State. All other eligible

employees of the University participate in one of the three addi-

tional plans, the Public Employees’ Retirement Association

(PERA) plan, the University’s optional retirement plan, and UPI’s

retirement plan. The CU Foundation and CUREF offer a retire-

ment plan for certain employees.

PERA-DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

The PERA plan provides income to members and their families at

retirement or in case of death or disability. The plan is a cost-

sharing multiple-employer plan administered by PERA. PERA was

established by state statute in 1931. Responsibility for the organi-

zation and administration of the plan is placed with the Board of

Trustees of PERA. Changes to the plan require an actuarial assess-

ment and legislation by the General Assembly. The State plan and

other divisions’ plans are included in PERA’s financial statements,

which may be obtained by writing PERA at P.O. Box 5800,

Denver, Colorado 80217, by calling PERA at 1-800-759-PERA

(7372), or by visiting www.copera.org.

Prior to legislation passed during the 2006 session, higher educa-

tion employees may have participated in social security, PERA’s

defined benefit plan, or the institution’s optional retirement plan.

Currently, higher education employees, except for classified staff,

are required to participate in their institution’s optional plan, if

available, unless they are active or inactive members of PERA with

at least one year of service credit. In that case they may elect either

PERA or their institution’s optional plan.

PERA members electing the defined contribution plan are allowed

an irrevocable election between the second and fifth year to use

their defined contribution account to purchase service credit and

be covered under the defined benefit retirement plan. However,

making this election subjects the member to the rules in effect for

those hired on or after January 1, 2007, as discussed below.

Employer contributions to both defined contribution plans are the

same as the contributions to the PERA defined plan.

Plan members vest after five years of service and are eligible for

retirement benefits based on their hire dates as follows:

• Hired before July 1, 2005–at age 50 with 30 years of service, age

60 with 20 years of service, or age 65 with five years of service.

• Hired between July 1, 2005, and December 31, 2006–any age

with 35 years of service, age 55 with 30 years of service, age 60

with 20 years of service, or age 65 with 5 years of service.

• Hired on or after January 1, 2007–any age with 35 years of ser-

vice, age 55 with 30 years of service, age 60 with 25 years of ser-

vice, or age 65 with 5 years of service.

Members are also eligible for retirement benefits without a reduc-

tion for early retirement based on their original hire date as follows:

• Hired before January 1, 2007–age 55 with a minimum of 5

years of service credit and age plus years of service equals 80 or

more.

• Hired on or after January 1, 2007–age 55 with a minimum of 5

years of service credit and age plus years of service equals 85 or

more.

Members automatically receive the higher of the defined retirement

benefit or money purchase benefit at retirement. Defined benefits

are calculated as 2.5 percent times the number of years of service

times the highest average salary (HAS). For retirements before

January 1, 2009, HAS is calculated as one-twelfth of the average of

the highest salaries on which contributions were paid, associated

with three periods of 12 consecutive months of service credit and

limited to a 15 percent increase between periods.
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Table 13. Scholarship Allowances (in thousands)

2010 2009

Auxiliary Auxiliary

Tuition and Enterprise Tuition and Enterprise

Funding Source Description Fees Revenues Total Fees Revenues Total

University general resources $ 42,417 1,080 43,497 40,369 925 41,294

University auxiliary resources 7,899 233 8,132 7,357 199 7,556

Colorado Commission on Higher Education

financial aid program 14,854 218 15,072 17,424 247 17,671

Federal programs, including Federal Pell Grant 40,813 694 41,507 32,094 523 32,617

Other State of Colorado programs 182 4 186 146 3 149

Private programs 2,675 77 2,752 (2,628) (80) (2,708)

Gift fund 12,118 228 12,346 13,128 196 13,324

Total Scholarship Allowances $ 120,958 2,534 123,492 107,890 2,013 109,903



For retirements after January 1, 2009–the HAS is calculated based

on original hire date as follows:

• For members hired before January 1, 2007–HAS is calculated

based on three periods of service credit and is limited to a 15

percent increase between periods; the lowest salary of four peri-

ods is used as a base for determining the maximum allowable 15

percent increase.

• For members hired on or after January 1, 2007–HAS is calcu-

lated based on three periods of service credit and is limited to an

8 percent increase between periods; the lowest salary of four

periods is used as a base for determining the maximum allow-

able 8 percent increase.

Prior to January 1, 2010, retiree benefits were increased annually

based on their original hire dates as follows:

• Hired before July 1, 2005–3.5 percent, compounded annually.

• Hired between July 1, 2005 and December 31, 2006–the lesser

of 3 percent or the actual increase in the national Consumer

Price Index.

• Hired on or after January 1, 2007–the lesser of 3 percent or the

actual increase in the national Consumer Price Index, limited to

a 10 percent reduction in a reserve established for cost of living

increases related strictly to those hired on or after January 1,

2007. (The reserve is funded by 1 percentage point of salaries

contributed by employers for employees hired on or after

January 1, 2007.)

In the 2010 legislative session, the general assembly set the current

increase as the lesser of 2 percent or the average of monthly CPI

amounts for calendar year 2009. The 2009 CPI was negative

resulting in a calendar year 2010 increase of 0 percent. The 2010

legislation moved the payment date of all increases to July. New

rules governing the annual increase amount will be in effect begin-

ning January 1, 2011.

Members who are disabled, who have five or more years of service

credit, six months of which has been earned since the most recent

period of membership, may receive retirement benefits if deter-

mined to be permanently disabled. If a member dies before retire-

ment, their spouse or their eligible children under the age of 18

(23 if a full-time student) are entitled to monthly benefit pay-

ments. If there is no eligible child or spouse, financially dependent

parents will receive a survivor’s benefit.

The total payroll of employees covered by PERA was approxi-

mately $279,135,000 and $277,523,000 for the years ended June

30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Employees contribute 8 percent

of their salary, as defined in CRS 24-51-101(42), to an individual

account in the plan. From January 1, 2009, through June 30,

2009, the University contributed 12.95 percent. From January 1,

2010, through June 30, 2010, the University contributed 13.85

percent. During the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, the

University contributed a total of 12.50 percent and 11.60 percent,

respectively, of the employee’s gross covered wages to PERA in

accordance with the following allocations and amounts detailed in

Table 15, University Contributions to PERA. These contributions

met the contribution requirement for each year.

The annual gross covered wages subject to PERA are the gross

earnings less any reduction in pay to offset employer contributions

to the state-sponsored plan established under Section 125 of

the Internal Revenue Code. The contribution requirements of

plan members and their employers are established, and may be

amended, by the General Assembly.

Per Colorado Revised Statutes, an amortization period of 30 years

is deemed actuarially sound. At December 31, 2009, the division

of PERA in which the state participates was underfunded with an

amortization period of 43 years.

In the 2004 legislative session, the general assembly authorized an

Amortization Equalization Disbursement (AED) to address a

pension-funding shortfall. The AED requires PERA employers to

pay an additional .5 percent of salary beginning January 1, 2006,

another .5 percent of salary in 2007, and subsequent year increases

of .4 percent of salary until the additional payment reaches 3.0

percent in 2012.

In the 2006 legislative session, the General Assembly authorized a

Supplemental Amortization Equalization Disbursement (SAED)

that requires PERA employers to pay an additional one half per-

centage point of total salaries paid beginning January 1, 2008. The

SAED is scheduled to increase by one half percentage point

through 2013 resulting in a cumulative increase of three percent-

age points. For state employers, each year’s one half percentage

point increase in the SAED will be deducted from the amount of

changes to state employees’ salaries, and used by the employer to

pay the SAED.

In the 2010 legislative session, the general assembly extended both

the AED and SAED. The AED will continue to increase at a

rate of .4 percent of salary from calendar years 2013 through 2017.

The SAED will continue to increase by one-half percentage point

from calendar years 2014 through 2017. If the funding ratio

reaches 103 percent, both the AED and the SAED will be reduced

by one-half percentage point. Neither the AED nor the SAED

may exceed 5 percent.
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Table 15. University Contributions to PERA (in thousands)

Program Basis 2010 2009 2008

Health Care Trust Fund 1.02% after July 1, 2004 $ 381 354 302

Defined Benefit Plan The balance remaining 37,398 34,694 29,570

Total University Contribution $ 37,779 35,048 29,872



Historically members have been allowed to purchase service credit

at reduced rates. However, legislation passed in the 2006 session

required that future agreements to purchase service credit be suffi-

cient to fund the related actuarial liability.

VOLUNTARY TAX-DEFERRED RETIREMENT
PLANS

The PERA Deferred Compensation Plan (457) was established

July 1, 2009, as a continuation of the state’s deferred compensation

plan which was established for state and local government employ-

ees in 1981. At July 1, 2009, the state’s administrative functions

were transferred to PERA, and all cost of administration and fund-

ing are borne by the plan participants. In calendar year 2009, par-

ticipants were allowed to make contributions of up to 100 percent

of their annual gross salary (reduced by their 8 percent PERA con-

tribution) to a maximum of $16,500. Participants who are age 50

and older may contribute an additional $5,500 for total contribu-

tions of $22,000 in 2009. At December 31, 2009, the plan had

18,007 participants.

PERA also offers a voluntary 401K plan entirely separate from the

defined benefit pension plan. Certain agencies and institutions of

the State offer 403(b) or 401(a) plans.

UNIVERSITY OPTIONAL RETIREMENT PLAN

Under the University’s optional retirement plan, certain members

of the University are required to participate in a defined contribu-

tion retirement plan administered by the University for the benefit

of full-time faculty and exempt staff members. The state constitu-

tion assigns the authority to establish and amend plan provisions

to the Regents. The contribution requirements of plan members

and the University are established and may be amended by the

Regents. Generally, employees are eligible for participation in the

plan after completing one year of service and are vested immedi-

ately upon participation. For the years ended June 30, 2010 and

2009, the University’s contribution to the defined contribution

retirement plan was equal to 10 percent of covered payroll and the

employee contribution was equal to 5 percent of covered payroll.

The University’s contribution under the optional retirement plan

during the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, approximated

$67,803,000 and $62,890,000, respectively. The employees’ con-

tribution under the optional retirement plan approximated

$33,732,000 and $31,340,000 during the years ended June 30,

2010 and 2009, respectively.

Participants in the University’s optional retirement plan choose to

invest all contributions with one or more of three designated ven-

dors. In addition, participants in the University’s optional retire-

ment plan are covered under federal Social Security. Federal Social

Security regulations required both the employer and employee to

contribute 6.2 percent of covered payroll to Social Security during

the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009.

UPI RETIREMENT PLAN

UPI sponsors a defined contribution retirement plan for its perma-

nent employees that is administered by the Teachers Insurance

Annuities Association’s College Retirement Equities Fund. The

board of directors for UPI has the authority to amend plan provi-

sions. Employees are eligible for participation in the plan after

completing one year of service. UPI contributed an amount equal

to 7 percent of eligible employees’ salaries for the years ended June

30, 2010 and 2009. UPI’s contributions for covered payroll to the

retirement plan for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009,

approximated $1,647,000 and $1,549,000, respectively.

CU FOUNDATION RETIREMENT PLAN

The CU Foundation sponsors a 401(k) plan for the benefit of its

employees. Under the 401(k) plan, the CU Foundation matches

employee contributions up to 6 percent of the employee’s salary.

For the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, the CU

Foundation’s matching contributions approximated $563,000 and

$636,000, respectively.

CUREF RETIREMENT PLAN

Starting July 1, 2005, CUREF established a 401(k) safe-harbor

plan for the benefit of substantially all full-time employees. Under

the 401(k) plan, CUREF matches employee contributions up to 6

percent of the employee’s salary. Participating employees immedi-

ately vest in employer contributions. For the years ended June 30,

2010 and 2009, CUREF’s matching contributions approximated

$37,000 and $33,000, respectively.

HEALTH INSURANCE PROGRAMS

The University’s contributions to its various health insurance pro-

grams approximated $86,832,000 and $70,404,000 during the

years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

NOTE 16–SEGMENT INFORMATION

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the University has one segment,

UPI.

UPI has identifiable activities for which UPI Variable Rate

Demand bonds approximating $17,920,000 and $18,435,000 are

outstanding as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The activi-

ties of this segment include all the UC Denver School of

Medicine’s faculty practice plan.

Summary financial information as of and for the years ended June

30, 2010 and 2009, is presented in Table 16, Segment Financial

Information.

NOTE 17–DISCRETELY PRESENTED

COMPONENT UNITS

Summary financial information as of and for the years ended June

30, 2010 and 2009 for the University’s DPCU are presented in

Table 17, DPCU Summary Financial Statements.
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Table 16. Segment Financial Information (in thousands)

As of and for the year ended June 30 2010 2009

Condensed Statement of Net Assets

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 32,675 46,165
Short-term investments 29,146 13,796
Other current assets 46,710 44,041

Total current assets 108,531 104,002

Noncurrent assets
Investments 9,433 102,189
Capital assets, net 36,567 9,274
Other noncurrent assets 1,821 1,874

Total noncurrent assets 132,821 113,337

Total Assets $ 241,352 217,339

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 24,712 25,655
Bonds, leases, and notes payable 672 595

Total current liabilities 25,384 26,250

Noncurrent liabilities
Bonds, leases, and notes payable 17,628 18,151

Total noncurrent liabilities 17,628 18,151

Total Liabilities $ 43,012 44,401

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt $ 18,266 6,495
Unrestricted 180,074 166,443

Total Net Assets $ 198,340 172,938

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets

Operating revenues (expenses)
Patient revenues $ 369,391 340,163
Depreciation expense (896) (648)
Other operating expenses (351,725) (327,104)

Total operating revenues (expenses) 16,770 12,411

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Investment income 11,264 29,560
Interest expense on capital asset-related debt (34) (407)
Other nonoperating expenses (2,598) (1,019)

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 8,632 28,134

Increase in Net Assets 25,402 40,545

Net Assets, beginning of year 172,938 132,393

Net Assets, end of year $ 198,340 172,938

Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

Net cash flows provided by (used for)
Operating activities $ 14,054 21,889
Non-capital financing activities (2,598) (1,019)
Capital and related financing activities (28,650) 29,449
Investing activities 3,704 (41,847)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (13,490) 8,472

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 46,165 37,693

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 32,675 46,165
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Table 17. DPCU Summary Financial Statements (in thousands)

Condensed Statement of Net Assets As of and for the year ended June 30, 2010

Coleman Foundation CU Foundation CUREF Total

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 53 27,169 7,099 34,321
Short-term investments – – 2,011 2,011
Accounts and contributions receivable, net – 16,362 215 16,577
Other current assets – 2,017 115 2,132

Total current assets 53 45,548 9,440 55,041

Noncurrent assets
Investments – 928,048 5,165 933,213
Assest held under split-interest agreements – 53,570 – 53,570
Contributions receivable, net – 34,321 1,753 36,074
Other assets – – 6,238 6,238
Capital assets, net – 3,124 62,831 65,955

Total noncurrent assets – 1,019,063 75,987 1,095,050

Total Assets $ 53 1,064,611 85,427 1,150,091

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ – 1,870 838 2,708
Accounts payable–University – 3,680 – 3,680
Deferred revenue – 469 861 1,330
Bonds, leases, and notes payable – 598 199 797
Split-interest agreements – 3,397 – 3,397
Custodial funds – 6,780 – 6,780

Total current liabilities – 16,794 1,898 18,692

Noncurrent liabilities
Bonds, leases, and notes payable – 2,746 68,499 71,245
Split-interest agreements – 17,594 – 17,594
Custodial funds – 199,255 – 199,255
Other liabilities – 1,855 28 1,883

Total noncurrent liabilities – 221,450 68,527 289,977

Total Liabilities $ – 238,244 70,425 308,669

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt $ – (220) 303 83
Restricted for nonexpendable purposes – 302,990 – 302,990
Restricted for expendable purposes – 467,478 3,953 471,431
Unrestricted 53 56,119 10,746 66,918

Total Net Assets $ 53 826,367 15,002 841,422

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets

Operating revenues
Contributions $ 944 88,273 263 89,480
University support – 5,100 – 5,100
Other revenue 15 3,725 9,523 13,263

Total operating revenues 959 97,098 9,786 107,843

Operating expenses
Institutional support

Gifts and income distributed to University and related parties 959 70,682 565 72,206
Other program services – 7,631 5,812 13,443
Support services 4 11,997 580 12,581

Depreciation and amortization – 756 2,496 3,252

Total operating expenses 963 91,066 9,453 101,482

Operating Income (Loss) (4) 6,032 333 6,361

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Investment income – 80,156 288 80,444
Interest expense on capital asset-related debt – (410) (4,009) (4,419)

Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets (4) 85,778 (3,388) 82,386

Net Assets, Beginning of Year 57 740,589 18,390 759,036

Net Assets, End of Year $ 53 826,367 15,002 841,422
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Table 17 (continued). DPCU Summary Financial Statements (in thousands)

Condensed Statement of Net Assets As of and for the year ended June 30, 2009

Coleman Foundation CU Foundation CUREF Total

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 57 29,580 7,852 37,489
Investments – – 1,402 1,402
Accounts and contributions receivable, net – 24,324 314 24,638
Other assets 254 157 411

Total current assets 57 54,158 9,725 63,940

Noncurrent assets
Investments – 825,880 5,165 831,045
Assets held under split-interest agreements – 51,406 – 51,406
Contributions receivable, net – 28,544 2,419 30,963
Other assets – – 6,251 6,251
Capital assets, net – 3,874 68,184 72,058

Total noncurrent assets – 909,704 82,019 991,723

Total Assets $ 57 963,862 91,744 1,055,663

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ – 2,045 848 2,893
Account payable–University – 2,656 – 2,656
Deferred revenue – 508 636 1,144
Bonds, leases, and notes payable – 507 441 948
Split-interest agreements – 3,298 – 3,298
Custodial funds – 6,174 – 6,174

Total current liabilities – 15,188 1,925 17,113

Noncurrent liabilities
Bonds, leases, and notes payable – 3,360 71,083 74,443
Split-interest agreements – 18,013 – 18,013
Custodial funds – 184,940 – 184,940
Other liabilities – 1,772 346 2,118

Total noncurrent liabilities – 208,085 71,429 279,514

Total Liabilities $ – 223,273 73,354 296,627

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt $ – 8 2,689 2,697
Restricted for nonexpendable purposes – 281,401 – 281,401
Restricted for expendable purposes – 421,026 4,426 425,452
Unrestricted 57 38,154 11,275 49,486

Total Net Assets $ 57 740,589 18,390 759,036

Statements of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets

Operating revenues
Contributions $ 1,000 100,249 492 101,741
University support – 7,600 – 7,600
Other revenue – (3,938) 9,759 5,821

Total operating revenues 1,000 103,911 10,251 115,162

Operating expenses
Institutional support

Gifts and income distributed to University and related parties 1,000 63,189 485 64,674
Other program services – 9,237 6,461 15,698
Support services 3 12,678 550 13,231

Depreciation and amortization – 747 2,459 3,206

Total operating expenses 1,003 85,851 9,955 96,809

Operating Income (Loss) (3) 18,060 296 18,353

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Investment income (loss) 1 (108,752) 379 (108,372)
Interest expense on capital asset-related debt – (545) (4,012) (4,557)

Decrease in Net Assets (2) (91,237) (3,337) (94,576)

Net Assets, Beginning of Year 59 831,826 21,727 853,612

Net Assets, End of Year $ 57 740,589 18,390 759,036



COLEMAN COLORADO FOUNDATION

The Coleman Foundation received a January 2001 private donor

pledge of $250,000,000 benefiting the University’s Coleman

Institute for Cognitive Disabilities. The ultimate timing to be con-

tributed to the Coleman Foundation can be altered by the donors.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the donor deferred all scheduled

payments, except the initial payment, and as a result, the pledge

receivable has been recorded with a full allowance.

Distributions made by the Coleman Foundation to the University

during the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, were approxi-

mately $960,000 and $1,000,000, respectively. All contributions

have been recorded as University gift revenue and DPCU operat-

ing expense in the accompanying financial statements. The CU

Foundation received a partial pledge contribution, which created

an endowment fund. As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, this related

endowment was valued at approximately $10,315,000 and

$9,657,000, respectively.

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO FOUNDATION

Distributions made by the CU Foundation to the University dur-

ing the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, were approximately

$63,453,000 and $61,749,000, respectively. This amount has been

recorded as University gift revenue and DPCU operating expense

in the accompanying financial statements and does not include

undistributed income on University endowments. As of June 30,

2010 and 2009, the University has recorded an accounts receivable

from the CU Foundation of $10,506,000 and $8,858,000, respec-

tively. As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the University recorded an

accounts payable to the CU Foundation of $51,000 and

$340,000, respectively. Beginning July 1, 2007, the University also

contracts with the CU Foundation to manage a portion of its

investments. As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively,

$88,609,000 and $79,879,000 is being managed by the CU

Foundation.

The University is the ultimate beneficiary of substantially all

restricted and trust funds held by the CU Foundation and is

income beneficiary of a significant portion of endowment funds

held by the CU Foundation. In addition, the University contracts

with the CU Foundation to manage its endowments. The

University has endowments and other assets held by the CU

Foundation approximating $107,047,000 and $99,085,000 as of

June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The CU Foundation

retained an investment management fee equal to one percent. The

University pays a fee to the CU Foundation for development ser-

vices approximating $5,100,000 and $7,600,000 during the years

ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

THE UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO REAL ESTATE
FOUNDATION

For the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, CUREF distributed

approximately $565,000 and $485,000, respectively, reported as

operating expense, to the University, which recognized an equal

amount of gift revenue. CUREF has a $7,000,000 line of credit

with an interest rate that is determined at the time a draw on the

line of credit is made with the University. No draws were made

and no amounts were owed under the line of credit for or as of

June 30, 2010 and 2009.

CUREF has a long-term agreement with the University to rent

portions of a building owned by CUREF. For the years ended June

30, 2010 and 2009, the University paid approximately $1,200,000

and $1,232,000, respectively, in rent of which approximately

$177,000 and $202,000 were prepaid at June 30, 2010 and 2009,

respectively, to CUREF, which recognized an equal amount of

other operating revenues.

NOTE 18–RELATED ORGANIZATIONS AND

JOINT VENTURES

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO HOSPITAL
AUTHORITY

In accordance with 1991 State legislation, the Hospital Authority

was established as a separate and distinct entity. Detailed financial

information may be obtained directly from the Hospital Authority

at Mail Stop F-401, P.O. Box 6506, Aurora, Colorado 80045.

UC Denver and UPI have several types of financial transactions

with the Hospital Authority. On an annual basis, UC Denver or

UPI and the Hospital Authority enter into agreements specifying

the fees to be charged for services and the allocation of expenses

between the two organizations. In certain circumstances, UC

Denver may bear the entire cost of certain services in exchange for

educational or other services provided by the Hospital Authority.

In some instances, the fee charged by UC Denver, UPI, or the

Hospital Authority is a set amount for specific services to be pro-

vided. In other circumstances, the fee charged is based upon the

amount or type of services requested by either UC Denver or the

Hospital Authority.

Examples of services provided by UC Denver to the Hospital

Authority include telecommunications services, rental of office

space, and resident doctors. Examples of services provided by the

Hospital Authority to UC Denver include shipping and receiving

services and student health services. In general, amounts receivable

from, or payable to, the Hospital Authority are settled within the

following calendar quarter.

Total payments issued by the Hospital Authority to UC Denver

approximated $31,674,000 and $30,320,000 for years ended June

30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Total payments issued by UC

Denver to the Hospital Authority for the years ended June 30,

2010 and 2009 approximated $10,822,000 and $10,071,000,

respectively.
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During the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, UPI recognized

approximately $26,757,000 and $25,755,000, respectively, in

health services revenue from the Hospital Authority in support of

clinical and academic missions. UPI also received approximately

$24,381,000 and $24,342,000 during the years ended June 30,

2010 and 2009, respectively, from the Hospital Authority for

amounts earned for services performed by UPI faculty members

but required to be processed through the Hospital Authority (such

as the State of Colorado medically indigent program, Ryan White,

and other miscellaneous programs).

In 1997, UPI assumed a 30 percent participation in the Hospital

Authority’s investment in TriWest Healthcare Alliance Corp.

(TriWest) for $994,000. The Hospital Authority purchased the

minority interest in TriWest for approximately $3,300,000. UPI

received $946,000 and $623,000 in dividends from TriWest dur-

ing the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. UPI has

also signed an agreement to assume the Hospital Authority’s net-

work management commitment to TriWest for a fee and has also

signed a provider service agreement with TriWest.

AURARIA HIGHER EDUCATION CENTER

AHEC, established by legislation in 1974, is jointly governed and

utilized by UC Denver Downtown Campus, the Community

College of Denver, and Metropolitan State College of Denver. The

institutions share the costs of operating common educational,

library, and other auxiliary facilities. Costs of the common facilities

are shared in accordance with an operating agreement between

AHEC and the respective institutions. During the years ended

June 30, 2010 and 2009, the University incurred expenses related

to the common facilities approximating $7,684,000 and

$9,247,000, respectively, for payments to AHEC.

During the year ended June 30, 2009, UC Denver entered into a

$10,272,000 site lease agreement with the Auraria Higher

Education Center associated with the build-out of educational

space on the UC Denver Downtown Campus. In addition, Auraria

acquired land and UC Denver entered into a second site lease of

$1,974,000 as a share of the cost of this land. As of June 30, 2010,

and 2009, the University paid base rent of approximately

$1,085,000 and $679,000 to AHEC and the University had

underlying gross capitalized assets costing approximately

$10,272,000 and $8,721,000, respectively.

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO HEALTH AND
WELFARE TRUST

The Trust was formed June 28, 2010. Trust members are the

University, the Hospital Authority, and UPI. The purpose of the

Trust is to provide healthcare benefits to the employees of the Trust

members on a self-insured basis effective July 1, 2010. The Univer-

sity does not have financial accountability over the Trust. As of

June 30, 2010, immaterial amounts of funds had been placed in

the Trust. No other financial activity occurred prior to June 30,

2010.

NOTE 19–COMMITMENTS AND

CONTINGENCIES

Contracts have been entered into for the purpose of planning,

acquiring, constructing, and equipping certain building additions

and other projects with outstanding amounts totaling approxi-

mately $135,926,000 and $97,159,000, as of June 30, 2010 and

2009, respectively. These additions will be funded or financed by

donor contributions, appropriations from the State, issuance of

revenue bonds, and other financings. As of June 30, 2010 and

2009, the amount of capital construction appropriations autho-

rized from the State for these projects approximated $61,065,000

and $26,094,000, respectively.

The University vacated UC Denver’s 9th Avenue and Colorado

Boulevard campus location in February 2009 in connection with

its relocation to the AMC in Aurora. In anticipation of the move,

the University previously entered into a sales agreement with a

third party to purchase the 9th Avenue and Colorado Boulevard

property in June 2006. Pursuant to the sales agreement, the

University agreed to environmentally remediate the property as

necessary and relieve two related deed restrictions. As of June 30,

2009, the University recorded a $1,349,000 liability as an other

current liability in the accompanying financial statements for the

anticipated cost of resolving these commitments. As of June 30,

2010, there were no outstanding remediation obligations as all

buildings and site remediation had been completed.

Substantial amounts are received and expended by the University

under federal and state grants and contracts and are subject to

audit by cognizant governmental agencies. This funding relates to

research, student aid, and other programs. University management

believes that any liabilities arising from such audits will not have a

material effect on the University’s financial position or operations.

UPI, as a member of the healthcare industry, is subject to numer-

ous laws and regulations of federal, state, and local governments.

These laws and regulations include, but are not necessarily limited

to, matters such as licensure, accreditation, and government health-

care program participation requirements; reimbursement for

patient services; and Medicare and Medicaid fraud and abuse.

Government activity has continued to increase with respect to

investigations and allegations concerning possible violations of

fraud and abuse statutes and regulations by healthcare providers.

Violations of these laws and regulations could result in expulsion

from government healthcare programs, together with the imposi-

tion of significant fines and penalties, as well as significant repay-

ments for patient services previously billed. UPI management

believes that UPI is in substantial compliance with fraud and abuse

statutes as well as other applicable government laws and regula-

tions. While no regulatory inquiries have been made, compliance

with such laws and regulations can be subject to future govern-

ment review and interpretation as well as regulatory actions

unknown or unasserted at this time.
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The University is a defendant in a number of legal actions. While

the final outcome of many of these legal actions cannot be deter-

mined at this time, management is of the opinion that the ulti-

mate liability not covered by insurance, if any, for these legal

actions will not have a material effect on the University’s financial

position or operations.

NOTE 20–SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

During June 2010, CU-Boulder elected to end its affiliation with

the Big 12 Conference and join the PAC-10 Conference. On

September 21, 2010, the Regents voted unanimously to approve

an agreement with the Big 12 Conference to join the PAC-10

Conference in 2011, thus exiting the Big 12 Conference one year

before the end of the contract period. As part of the agreement,

the University will forego $6,863,000 in distributions from the Big

12 Conference. As the University is foregoing distributions, no lia-

bility is recorded as of June 30, 2010.

On October 28, 2010, the University issued $96,790,000 of fixed

rate coupon revenue bonds, which provided new funds of

$39,885,000 and $56,905,000 towards refinancing. The Tax

Exempt bonds of $56,905,000 bear interest rates from 2 to 5 per-

cent, the Direct Payment Build America bonds of $35,510,000

bear interest rates of 0.755 to 5.601 percent, and the Direct

Payment Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds of $4,375,000

bear interest rates of 1.155 to 5.601 percent. The proceeds will be

used to:

• refinance existing debt

• purchase and remodel property in Boulder

• add usable space to AMC Dental and Pharmacy facilities

• exercise purchase option and expand production capacity on the

CUP at AMC

• make energy conservation improvements on two research facili-

ties at AMC

• pay for capitalized interest and closing costs

The revenue bonds all have fixed rate coupons, and the sources of

funds to repay the new refunding bonds are the same as the previ-

ous debt. For the new money projects, repayment will be from

overhead charged to sponsored research, in addition to user fees

charged for the CUP refinancing and expansion.
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FUNDING STATUS OF POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Actuarial UAAL as

Actuarial Accrued Percentage

Actuarial Value Liability Unfunded Funded Covered of Covered

Valuation of Assets (AAL)–Entry AAL (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date (A) Age (B) (B-A) (A/B) (C) (B-A/C)

July 1, 2008 – $196,714,735 $196,714,735 0.00% $898,898,961 21.88%

July 1, 2007 – 195,972,332 195,972,332 0.00% 831,242,265 23.58%
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control ov er Financial Reporting 

and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Aud it of Financial 
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

 
 
Members of the Legislative Audit Committee: 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and aggregate discretely 
presented component units of the University of Colorado (the University), a component unit of the 
State of Colorado, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2010, and have issued our report thereon 
dated November 12, 2010.  We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States.  Other auditors audited the financial statements of University Physicians, Inc. (UPI) and 
University License Equity Holding, Inc. (ULEHI), blended component units, and the University of 
Colorado Foundation (CU Foundation) and the Colorado Real Estate Foundation (CUREF), 
discretely presented component units, as described in our report on the University of Colorado’s 
financial statements.  The financial statements of UPI, CU Foundation, and CUREF were not 
audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit, we considered the University’s internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion 
on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the University’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent 
or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on 
a timely basis.   
 
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in 
the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal 
control that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses.  We did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University’s financial statements 
are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
We noted an additional matter that we reported to management of the University in the finding 
and recommendation section of this report. The University’s response to the finding identified is 
described in the finding and recommendation section of this report. We did not audit the 
University’s response and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the State of Colorado Legislative 
Audit Committee, the Office of the State Auditor, the Board of Regents, and the University’s 
management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 
 

a1 
 
Greenwood Village, Colorado 
November 12, 2010 
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Required Communications to the Legislative Audit Co mmittee 

 
 
November 12, 2010 
 
Members of the Legislative Audit Committee: 
 
This letter is to provide you with information about significant matters related to our audit of the 
financial statements of the University of Colorado (the University) for the year ended June 30, 2010.   
 
The following are our observations arising from the audit that are relevant to the University’s Board 
of Regents responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.   
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities Under Generally Accepted  Auditing Standards.   Our audit was 
performed for the purpose of forming and expressing an opinion about whether the financial 
statements, that have been prepared by management, with the Board of Regent’s oversight, are 
presented fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America.  Our audit does not relieve the Board of Regents or management 
of its responsibilities.   
 
Other Information in Documents Containing Audited F inancial Statements.   In connection with 
the University’s financial statements, we did not perform any procedures or corroborate other 
information included in the report.  However, we read management’s discussion and analysis of 
financial conditions and results of operations and considered whether the information or the manner 
in which it was presented was materially inconsistent with information or the manner of presentation 
of the financial statements.  Based on our reading, we concluded that the information 
did not require revision. 
 
Significant Issues Discussed With Management Prior to Retention.  We discuss various 
matters with management prior to retention as the University’s auditors.  These discussions occur in 
the normal course of our professional relationship.  There were no significant issues, including the 
application of accounting principles and auditing standards, which were discussed with 
management prior to our retention as auditors. 
 
Consultations With Other Accountants.   We were informed by management that it made no 
consultations with other accountants on the application of generally accepted accounting principles 
and generally accepted auditing standards. 
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Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices.    

Accounting Policies 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The 
significant accounting policies used by the University are described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements.  There were no significant accounting policies or their application which were either 
initially selected or changed during the year.  The University did reclassify the presentation of 
Pell grant revenue from operating to nonoperating during the fiscal year.  As discussed in Note 
1, the University adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 51, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Intangible Assets.  As discussed in this note, as substantially all patents held by 
the University are used for revenue producing activities, such patents are not reported as 
intangible assets in the accompanying statement of net assets.  Therefore, the adoption of this 
standard did not have a material effect on the basic financial statements.         

We noted no transactions in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. 

There were no significant transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in 
a different period than when the transaction occurred. 

Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management 
and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive 
because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that 
future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  The following is 
management’s description of the process utilized in forming estimates for the allowance for 
uncollectible receivables, the periods to depreciate capital assets owned by the University, the 
incurred but not reported self-insured liability, the liability for other postemployment benefits,  
accrued compensated absences,  and contractual allowances under third-party reimbursement 
programs and net patient service revenue (health service revenue):      

• Accounts, contributions, and loans receivable are recorded net of estimated uncollectible 
amounts, approximating anticipated losses.  Individual accounts are written off against 
the allowance when collection of the account appears doubtful.   

• Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method and monthly convention 
over the estimated useful lives of the assets.  Estimated useful lives range from 3 to 50 
years.  

• Reserves for unpaid claims under the University's self-insurance programs are 
actuarially reviewed and evaluated for adequacy each year and are reported on an 
undiscounted basis.   

• Other postemployment benefit expense is calculated based on the annual required 
contribution (ARC) of the University, an amount actuarially determined. 
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• Compensated absences and related personnel expenses are recognized based on 
estimated balances due to employees upon termination or retirement.  The limitations on 
such payments are defined by the rules associated with the personnel systems at the 
University.  Employees accrue and vest in vacation and sick leave earnings based on 
their hire date and length of service.   

• Health service revenue from contractual arrangements is recognized by University 
Physicians, Inc. (UPI) as a result of providing care to patients covered under various 
third parties such as Medicare and Medicaid, private insurance companies, and 
managed care programs, primarily from fixed-rate agreements.  Health services revenue 
is reported at the estimated net realizable amounts due from third-party payers and 
others for services rendered. 

Financial Statement Disclosures 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
financial statement users.  There were no particularly sensitive financial statement disclosures. 

Corrected Misstatements.  There were no misstatements detected as a result of audit 
procedures and corrected by management that were material, either individually or in the 
aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole.   

Uncorrected Misstatements.  Page 68 summarizes uncorrected misstatements, other than 
those that are trivial, aggregated by us during our current audit and pertaining to the most recent 
period presented in the financial statements.  Management has determined that these 
uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the 
financial statements taken as a whole.     

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit.   We encountered no significant difficulties 
in dealing with management related to the performance of our audit. 

Representations from Management.  We have requested and received representations from 
management.   

Disagreements With Management.  There were no disagreements with management on 
financial accounting and reporting matters, auditing procedures, or other matters which would 
be significant to the University’s financial statements or our report on those financial statements. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the State of Colorado Legislative 
Audit Committee, the Office of the State Auditor, the Board of Regents, and the University’s 
management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 
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Adjustments on financial statement captions
Change in net assets unadjusted

audit differences arising in Balance sheet
Adj. Current Prior Current Noncurrent Current Noncurrent
no. Description period period Net assets assets assets liabilities liabilities
1   Operating expense $ 1,968,643  —   1,968,643  —   —   —   —   

Construction in progress —   —   —   —   3,172,162  —   —   
Accounts payable —   —   —   —   —   (5,140,805) —   

To accrue for projected error in liabilities
related to operating expenses and 
construction in progress.

2   Grant revenue 3,422,612  —   3,422,612  —   —   —   —   
Beginning net assets —   (3,422,612) (3,422,615) —   —   —   —   

To adjust non-governmental grant revenue
for amounts that should have been 
recognized in the prior fiscal year
(projected error).

3   Operating revenue 3,017,488  —   3,017,488  —   —   —   —   
Operating expense (3,017,488) —   (3,017,488) —   —   —   —   

To reclassify bad debt expense to a 
contra-revenue account.

4   Operating expense 4,598,302  —   4,598,302  —   —   —   —   
Accrued liabilities —   —   —   —   —   (5,200,000) —   

To accrue a liability for the
new early retirement program.

$ 9,989,557  (3,422,612) 6,566,942  —   —   (10,340,805) —   

 



UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO 
STATE-FUNDED STUDENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS 

INTRODUCTION 
Year ended June 30, 2010 

 
 

 69 (Continued) 

The University of Colorado (the University) is governed by the University of Colorado Board of 
Regents. The University is a state-supported institution of higher education comprised of the 
system office and the following three accredited campuses: 
 

• University of Colorado at Boulder (CU – Boulder) 
• University of Colorado at Denver (UC Denver) 
• University of Colorado at Colorado Springs (UCCS) 
 

UC Denver receives state-funded student financial assistance at both the Downtown Campus 
and the Anschutz Medical Campus. 
 
Our financial and compliance examination of the various state-funded student financial 
assistance programs at the University for the year ended June 30, 2010 was directed toward the 
objectives and criteria set forth in the Colorado Commission on Higher Education’s (CCHE) 
Financial Aid Policy. The state-funded student financial assistance programs were examined 
simultaneously with the federal financial aid programs for the year ended June 30, 2010. 
 
State-Funded Student Financial Assistance Programs 
 
The University’s various state-funded student financial assistance programs include the 
following: 

• Colorado Need-Based Grants awards comprise: 
– Colorado Student Grant 
– Colorado Graduate Grant 
– Colorado Leveraging Educational Assistance Partnership (CLEAP) (reported 

separately on the accompanying statement of appropriations, expenditures, 
transfers, and reversions) 

– Supplemental Leveraging Assistance Partnership (SLEAP) (reported separately 
on the accompanying statement of appropriations, expenditures, transfers, and 
reversions) 

• Colorado Work-Study 
• Governor’s Opportunity Scholarships 
• Loan Match 
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The director of financial aid at each campus is responsible for administration of these programs. 
This responsibility includes application processing, eligibility determination, and financial aid 
packaging, as well as ensuring compliance with regulations governing the participation of the 
University in federal and state-funded student financial aid programs. The campus controller’s 
office at each campus is responsible for the programs’ financial management, general ledger 
accounting, payments, and collections. 
 
The total state-funded student financial assistance programs expenditures made by the 
University were approximately $20.8 million during the year ended June 30, 2010. 
 
Authorizations and expenditures for state-funded student financial programs assistance are 
detailed by program in the accompanying statement of appropriations, expenditures, transfers, 
and reversions for the year ended June 30, 2010. The University also obtained authorizations 
for federal student financial aid funds as follows: 
 
 Pell Grants $ 40,175,077 
 Direct Loan  321,279,594 
 Federal Family Education Loans  33,376,493 
 Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant  1,312,568 
 College Work-Study  2,640,878 
 National Smart Grant  2,568,275 
 Academic Competitiveness Grant  1,355,579 
 Teacher Education Assistance for College 
    and Higher Education Grant  334,000 
 Health Professions Student Loans  63,798 
 Nursing Student Loans  5,733 
 Scholarships for Disadvantaged Students  93,525 
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Independent Auditors’ Report on the Statement of Ap propriations, 

Expenditures, Transfers, and Reversions of the Stat e-Funded 
Student Financial Assistance Programs 

 
Members of the Legislative Audit Committee: 
 
We have audited the accompanying statement of appropriations, expenditures, transfers, and 
reversions of the state-funded student financial assistance programs (the Statement) of the 
University of Colorado (the University), a component unit of the State of Colorado, for the year 
ended June 30, 2010. The Statement is the responsibility of the University’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Statement based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
Statement is free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Statement.  An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall Statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 
 
As described in the notes to the Statement, the Statement was prepared in accordance with the 
format set forth in the Colorado Department of Higher Education (CDHE) Audit Guide, and in 
conformity with the provisions of the Colorado Commission on Higher Education (CCHE) Student 
Financial Aid Policy. The Statement is a summary of cash activity of the state-funded student 
financial assistance programs with the exception of the Colorado Work-Study program, and does 
not present certain transactions that would be included in the statement of the state-funded student 
financial assistance programs if it was presented on the accrual basis of accounting, as prescribed 
by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  Accordingly, the accompanying statement is not 
intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in financial position or cash flows 
of the University in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
Because the Statement presents only a selected portion of the activities of the University, it is not 
intended to and does not present either the financial position or changes in financial position of the 
University in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
In our opinion, the Statement referred to above presents fairly the appropriations, expenditures, 
transfers, and reversions of the state-funded student financial assistance programs of the University 
for the year ended June 30, 2010, in accordance with the format set forth in the CDHE Audit Guide, 
and in conformity with the provisions of the CCHE Student Financial Aid Policy, as described in 
Note 1 to the Statements. 
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In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
November 12, 2010 on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the 
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of 
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with this report in 
considering the results of our audit. 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the Statement in accordance 
with the format set forth in the CDHE Audit Guide, and in conformity with the provisions of the 
CCHE Financial Aid Policy. The accompanying schedule of appropriations, expenditures, 
transfers, and reversions of the University by campus (the Schedules) are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the Statement. The Schedules 
have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the Statement and, in our 
opinion, are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the Statement taken as a whole. 
 
The introduction has not been subjected to auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
Statement and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the State of Colorado Legislative 
Audit Committee, the State Auditor’s Office, the Board of Regents, and the University’s 
management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 
 

a1 
 
Greenwood Village, Colorado 
November 12, 2010 
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Total Colorado Governor’s
Financial Need-Based Colorado Opportunity Loan

Aid Grants CLEAP SLEAP Work-Study Scholarships match

Appropriations:
Original official allocation

notice $ 20,646,777     16,366,786     307,790    240,114     2,801,187    930,900      -             
Additional funds reallocated by

CDHE 325,339          186,913          -           -             120,000       10,700        7,726         
Funds released to CDHE (142,624)         -                  -           -             -              (142,624)     -             

Total appropriations 20,829,492     16,553,699     307,790    240,114     2,921,187    798,976      7,726         
Total expenditures 20,829,492     16,553,699     307,790    240,114     2,921,187    798,976      7,726         

Reversions $ -                  -                  -           -             -              -              -             

See accompanying notes to statement of appropriations, expenditures, transfers, and reversions.
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(1) Basis of Presentation 
 
The University of Colorado (the University) is governed by the University’s Board of 
Regents. The University comprises the system office and the following three accredited 
campuses: 
 

• University of Colorado at Boulder (CU – Boulder) 
• University of Colorado at Denver (UC Denver) 
• University of Colorado at Colorado Springs (UCCS) 

 
The accompanying statement of appropriations, expenditures, transfers, and reversions of 
state-funded student financial assistance programs (the Statement) has been prepared in 
accordance with the format as prescribed by the Colorado Department of Higher 
Education (CDHE) Audit Guide and in conformity with the provision of the Colorado 
Commission on Higher Education (CCHE) Student Financial Aid Policy. The purpose of 
the Statement is to present, in summary form, the state-funded student financial 
assistance activities of the University’s three accredited campuses for the year ended 
June 30, 2010. 
 
Because the Statement presents only a selected portion of the activities of the University, 
it is not intended to and does not present either the financial position or changes in 
financial position of the University in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
 

(2) Basis of Accounting 
 
All state-funded student financial assistance is expensed on a cash basis, except for the 
Colorado Work-Study program. Colorado Work-Study wages are recorded on the accrual 
basis recognizing expenses when the services are performed. 
 
The Colorado Leveraging Educational Assistance Partnership (CLEAP) and Supplemental 
Leveraging Assistance Partnership (SLEAP) consist of state and federal funds. The 
amount shown in the Statement is the combined total. 
 
The University’s various state-funded student financial assistance programs include the 
following: the Colorado Need-Based Grants awards comprise the Colorado Student Grant, 
the Colorado Graduate Grant, the CLEAP (reported separately on the Statement) and the 
SLEAP (reported separately on the Statement); Colorado Work-Study, the Governor’s 
Opportunity Scholarships, and the loan match. 
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Total Colorado Governor’s
Financial Need-Based Colorado Opportunity Loan

Boulder Aid Grants CLEAP SLEAP Work-Study Scholarships match

Appropriations:
Original official allocation

notice $ 8,063,838    6,129,204    197,481       74,887         1,469,666    192,600       -              
Additional funds reallocated by

CDHE 110,700       70,000         -              -              30,000         10,700         -              
Funds released to CDHE -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

Total appropriations 8,174,538    6,199,204    197,481       74,887         1,499,666    203,300       -              

Total expenditures 8,174,538    6,199,204    197,481       74,887         1,499,666    203,300       -              

Reversions $ -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

Denver

Appropriations:
Original official allocation

notice $ 8,723,836    7,360,897    64,468         127,189       753,982       417,300       -              
Additional funds reallocated by

CDHE 154,639       116,913       -              -              30,000         -              7,726           
Funds released to CDHE (86,913)       -              -              -              -              (86,913)       -              

Total appropriations 8,791,562    7,477,810    64,468         127,189       783,982       330,387       7,726           

Total expenditures 8,791,562    7,477,810    64,468         127,189       783,982       330,387       7,726           

Reversions $ -              -              -              -              -              -              -              
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Total Colorado Governor’s
Financial Need-Based Colorado Opportunity Loan

Colorado Springs Aid Grants CLEAP SLEAP Work-Study Scholarships match

Appropriations:
Original official allocation

notice $ 3,859,103   2,876,685   45,841   38,038   577,539   321,000   —    
Additional funds reallocated by

CDHE 60,000   —    —    —    60,000   —    —    
Funds released to CDHE (55,711)  —    —    —    —    (55,711)  —    

Total appropriations 3,863,392   2,876,685   45,841   38,038   637,539   265,289   —    

Total expenditures 3,863,392   2,876,685   45,841   38,038   637,539   265,289   —    

Reversions $ —    —    —    —    —    —    —    

See accompanying independent auditors’ report on the statement of appropriations, expenditures, transfers, and reversions of the state-funded student financial assistance programs.
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There are no audit comments and recommendations related to the state-funded student 
financial assistance programs. 
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